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 redevelopment of Mill Park Leisure 

 continued investment in roads renewal and rehabilitation program, dogs off leash areas,

disability access and traffic management initiatives around schools

 ongoing program for upgrading playgrounds and general landscape improvements

 redevelopment of pavilion in Main Street Thomastown 

 refurbishment  of Mill Park Library 

 development of an All Abilities Play Space in Mill Park

 construction of pavilion and car park at Harvest Home Road, Epping

 upgrade pavilion at Duffy Street Reserve

 upgrade sports ground at Epping Reserve

  upgrade of tennis courts and pavilion at TH Hurrey Reserve in Yan Yean

 construction of soccer pitches and pavilion at:

      - Doreen South Reserve

      - Lalor West Reserve

 signalisation of intersection at Ferres Boulevard and Findon Road, South Morang

 streetscape improvements for shopping precinct on High Street in Lalor

 construction of shared path on Bridge Inn Road between Towerhill Avenue and Mernda

Railway Station.

Cr Kris Pavlidis 

Mayor

This year residents will notice Council has introduced a waste services charge on their rates.

Previously this charge has been integrated with general rates but from now on it will be itemised

separately. The change will bring the City of Whittlesea into line with the majority of other Victorian

Councils. Separating the waste charge enables Council to be more transparent about the costs of

providing waste services. The charge will be set to ensure only direct cost recovery for Council; it is

not a revenue stream.

No budget process is simple, however I am confident we have developed a financially responsible

plan for the year ahead and proud that we are on track to fulfil the goals set out in our Council Plan. 

I commend and endorse the 2018/19 Budget and I thank all staff of the City of Whittlesea who

assisted with its development. 

Mayor introduction

I am pleased to present the 2018/19 Budget to the City of Whittlesea community. 

We are committed to delivering services, facilities and infrastructure for our rapidly growing

community. It is always a challenge to provide everything our residents need and deserve, manage

an extensive network of ageing infrastructure and keep our costs down. We will never be able to

provide everything, but we seek to be as effective as possible. This means being innovative and

smart about our service delivery and continually striving for ways to be more efficient and reduce

costs. 

Council’s 2018/2019 Budget is $285.1 million, which includes an operating budget of $196.7 million

and Capital Works Program of $88.4 million to improve roads and facilities around the City.

Some of the capital works highlights of the 2018/2019 Budget include: 

Since the introduction of rate capping in 2016/17, the City of Whittlesea has kept its rates to the

annual rate cap set by the Minister for Local Government. For the 2018/19 financial year, the cap on

Victorian council rate rises has been set at 2.25 per cent. 
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Budget highlights 

Some key features included in the operating budget include:

 Whittlesea 2040: A project to develop a long term vision for the municipality

 Operating revenue of $211.38 million (excluding developers contributions, non-monetary assets and

non-recurrent capital grants)

 Operating expenditure of $196.68 million

 $6.78 million for provision of maternal and child health services

 $2.01 million on supporting local youth

 $7.58 million to provide homecare services and enable older people to live independently in their

homes

 $2.48 million for school crossing supervision

 $4.70 million contribution to provide the Regional Library Service

 $3.92 million on general footpath expenditure

Council will continue to use Net Annual Value as its rating valuation methodology and will continue to levy a

differential rate on eligible farm land at 40% less than the general rate.

The 2018 general valuation resulted in an overall Capital Improved Value (CIV) increase of 33.6% for the

municipality. Compared to the 2016 general valuation, residential properties had an average increase of

26.5%, rural properties had an average increase of 39.0%, commercial properties had an average

increase of 21.9%, and the industrial properties had an average increase of 13.2%.

Executive summary

The table below confirms that with the introduction of a separate waste charge, the total 2018/19 rates and

waste charges revenue is within the 2.25% rate cap set by the State Government and Council is not raising

any addition revenue from the separated waste charge:

The Proposed Budget for 2018/2019 is aligned to the vision set out in the 2017-2021 Council Plan. This

Budget has a focus on implementing significant infrastructure projects whilst enabling Council to continue

to deliver services and facilities for our rapidly growing community.

Rates & Valuations

Average rates in 2018/2019 will increase by 2.25 per cent, in line with the rate cap set by the Victorian

Government.

Council is proposing to introduce waste service charges, using a revenue-neutral approach. Total revenue

levied through the new waste service charges will be offset by the reduction on total general rates levied on

properties.

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

General rate       141,004           140,673 (331) (0.23%)

Farm rate             777              1,412 635 81.72%

Residential/Farm waste charge                -                6,781 6,781 -

Commercial/Industrial waste charge                -                   417 417 -

Total Rates and charges       141,781           149,283 7,502 5.29%

Annualised 2017/18 supplementary rate revenue           4,217                   -   

Total annualised rates and charges       145,998           149,283 3,285 2.25%

Change
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 $3.0 million for signalisation of Intersection at Ferres Boulevard and Findon Road 

 $1.0 million  for streetscape improvement program for Lalor High Street Shops 

 $563,000 for construction of Shared Path on Bridge Inn Road between Towerhill Avenue and Mernda

Railway Station 

 Continued investment in Roads Renewal and Rehabilitation Program, Dogs Off Leash Areas,

Disability Access and Traffic Management Initiatives Around Schools

 $12.0 million for Mill Park Leisure Centre Development

 $940,000 for Mill Park Library refurbishment 

 $1.72 million for upgrade of tennis courts and pavilion at TH Hurrey Reserve 

 $800,000 for upgrade Pavilion at Duffy Street Reserve 

 $2.0 million Upgrade sports ground – Epping Reserve

 $3.0 million for construction of Pavilion and carpark at Harvest Home Soccer Facility

 $2.4 million for Main Street Thomastown Pavilion redevelopment

 Construct 2 Soccer Pitches and pavilion at:

         - Doreen South Reserve ($2.58m)

         - Lalor West Reserve ($3.55m)

 $1.1 million for ongoing program for upgrading playgrounds and general landscape

 $1.0 million for an All Abilities Play Space in Mill Park 

 Rate capping has put enormous financial pressure on Council to manage its services and

infrastructure delivery in the growth context. The cap for 2018/19 has been set at 2.25% (2017/18:

2.0%).

 The City of Whittlesea is one of the fastest growth municipalities in the nation.

 Erosion in the value of Grant funding for number of services. This occurs where local government

provides a service to the community on behalf of the state and Federal Government. Overtime funds

received by local governments do not increase in line with real cost increases.

 State Government Landfill levy has increased from $9 per tonne in 2008/09 to $64.23 per tonne in

2017/18 (614% increase in 10 years and added $2.41M to Council’s costs)

 Current financial crisis in the recycling industry presents significant uncertainty for recycling service

delivery and price affordability

Capital works

The budget includes a new capital works budget of $77.90 million and $10.51 million of works carried

forward from 2017/18 including:

Key pressures on the Budget

Upgrading or building new community facilities

Parks and playgrounds

Improving roads, footpaths and bike paths
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 Total Revenue :  $329.67 (2017/18  $315.05M)

 Total Expenditure : $196.69 (2017/18  $193.18M)

 Accounting Result: a surplus of $132.98M including capital grants and contribution based on total

income of $119.1M.

 Underlying operating result: a surplus of $14.69M.

(Note: Underlying operating result is an important measure of sustainability as it excludes income

which is to be used for capital, from being allocated to cover operating expenses).

 Cash result: $190,000 surplus.

This is the net funding result after considering the funding requirements to meet loan principal

repayments, reserve transfers and rate funded capital expenditure exceeding depreciation. (Refer

reconciliation table 2.8).

 New Capital Works Program: $77.90M

          o   $32.22M from Council operations (rates funded)

          o   $6.26M from reserves

          o   $27.37M from grants and contributions

          o   $12.05M from loan borrowings

Key budget outcomes
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1. Link to the Council Plan

This section describes how the Annual Budget links to the achievement of the Council Plan within an

overall planning and reporting framework. This framework guides the Council in identifying

community needs and aspirations over the long term, medium term (Council Plan) and short term

(Annual Budget) and then holding itself accountable (Annual Report).

The Strategic Resource Plan, part of and prepared in conjunction with the Council Plan, is a rolling

four-year plan that outlines the financial and non-financial resources that Council requires to achieve

the strategic objectives described in the Council Plan. The Annual Budget is framed within the

Strategic Resource Plan, considering the services and initiatives which contribute to achieving the

strategic objectives specified in the Council Plan. The diagram below depicts the planning and

accountability framework that applies to local government in Victoria.

In addition to the above, Council has a long term plan which articulates a community vision, mission 

and values.  The Council Plan is prepared with reference to Council's long term Community Plan.

The timing of each component of the planning framework is critical to the successful achievement of 

the planned outcomes.

Source: Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning

1.1  Planning and accountability framework
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Strategic Objective Description

Roads, Access and Public 

Transport

Access in, out and around our community happens in many ways –

through public transport, roads for vehicles, walking and bike pathways,

communication and digital networks. Having access to locally provided

services means that our daily business is conducted easily. Design and

construction of our built infrastructure enables access for all.

Travel times for residents are significant and increasing, particularly

during the peak hours in the morning and afternoon when commuting

to and from work, or when dropping off or picking up children at

childcare facilities or schools. Reducing travel times will increase

overall wellbeing and productivity and afford residents more time to

spend with their families, friends, at work, shopping or while pursuing

recreational activities.

Health and Wellbeing A healthy community that supports and includes diverse people through

all of life’s stages and cares about life-long learning has a sense of

wellbeing and belonging. Health services are available locally and

easily accessed in community hubs. Support is available for young

people, families, the elderly, and those who are isolated and

disadvantaged. Access to education, training and information enables

life-long learning for everyone.

Community Safety For 2017-21, Council has a priority for the local community to be safe

where harm from violence, alcohol and drugs is removed. Council is

committed to improving safety in our neighbourhoods and towns and

working in partnership with police and service providers to address

safety issues and build a safe community for all who work, live and visit

our City

The City of Whittlesea promises to:-

• Use evidence to decide our community direction

• We use this evidence to advocate to Council and external parties

• We strategically resource our organisation to support our community

• Excellence 

• Wellbeing 

• Valuing diversity 

• Respect 

• Open communication 

• Sustainability  

Council delivers services and initiatives under 37 major service areas. Each contributes to the

achievement of one of the seven Strategic Objectives, or Council Priorities as we named them in the

Council Plan 2017- 2021. The following table lists the seven Council Priorities as described in the

Council Plan.

Our vision 

1.2  Our purpose

1.3  Strategic objectives

Our mission

Our values

Our vision 'creating vibrant self-sustaining communities together’

The City of Whittlesea’s vision guides our effort to keep pace with the rapid changes to and growth of

our municipality over the next few years.
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Strategic Objective Description

Jobs and Investment A diverse economy offers varied career opportunities so people can

live and work in Whittlesea. Business attraction requires infrastructure

and transport planning, affordable housing, skill development and a

supportive regulatory environment. We need to work on supporting

and developing opportunities for local businesses like growing the food

we need locally. Education facilities offer everyone career and skill

development options.

For 2017-21, Council will focus on increasing the number of local jobs.

Residents benefit from local employment opportunities in multiple

ways. Local workers spend less time commuting, spend more of their

money locally and form stronger relationships within their community.

Organisational Sustainability Good governance is critical to keep Council sustainable

organisationally. It means that the decision-making processes for

managing public resources are accessible, transparent and

appropriate. Council must take into consideration principles of social

justice and human rights in the delivery of democratic government.

It links to our people, where we need to attract, develop and retain skills 

to build a high performance culture. Council also understands the

importance of adapting to the fast-paced change in technology, looking

for continuous improvement opportunities aimed at delivering best-

value services and operations to our community. Council is committed

to exploring regional collaboration and joint services to support

organisational sustainability.  

Planning and Infrastructure Places, spaces and events bring people together to socialise and

access services and also help build our community and an

understanding and appreciation of our diversity. Our community hubs

provide a central place to meet, shop, have a haircut, go to the doctor,

post a letter, do banking, have coffee, visit the library and be

entertained. They bring people together. Urban design develops a

sense of place built on heritage. Parks and recreation facilities improve

community wellbeing and can be used for events and celebrations.

There are many pathways to bring people together in all the

communities that together make our City.

Environmental Sustainability From 2017 – 21 Council will prioritise Environmental Sustainably in our

community. This means managing the impacts of environmental,

economic, and social activities so that we remain healthy over the long

term. Our natural environment is a resource for all to enjoy and we

need to protect it for future generations. This means our carbon

footprint, water, waste, energy use, flora (particularly the majestic River

Red Gums) and our fauna need to be cared for. Immigration, strong

housing demand, economic growth, climate change, alternative

energies and transport all provide challenges for our environment,

future planning and how we live. Our daily routines have changed; we

plan for tomorrow and use innovation to become more sustainable.

Everyone does their bit to help.
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2. Services and service performance indicators

Services
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19
Actual Forecast Budget
$'000 $'000 $'000

Exp 1,996     2,444     2,706      

Rev (2,292) (2,777) (2,797)

NET (296) (333) (91)

Exp 3,249     3,531     3,765      

Rev (571) (765) (580)

NET       2,678       2,766       3,185 

This section provides a description of the services and initiatives to be funded in the Budget for the

2018/19 year and how these will contribute to achieving the strategic objectives outlined in the Council

Plan. It also describes several initiatives and service performance outcome indicators for key areas of

Council’s operations. Council is required by legislation to identify major initiatives, initiatives and service

performance outcome indicators in the Budget and report against them in their Annual Report to support

transparency and accountability. The relationship between these accountability requirements in the

Council Plan, the Budget and the Annual Report is shown below

Source: Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning

2.1  Roads, Access & Public Transport

Access in, out and around our community happens in many ways – through public transport, roads for

vehicles, walking and bike pathways, communication and digital networks. Having access to locally

provided services means that our daily business is conducted easily. Design and construction of our built

infrastructure enables access for all.

Travel times for residents are significant and increasing, particularly during the peak hours in the morning

and afternoon when commuting to and from work, or when dropping off or picking up children at childcare

facilities or schools. Reducing travel times will increase overall wellbeing and productivity and afford

residents more time to spend with their families, friends, at work, shopping or while pursuing recreational

activities.

Service area Description of services provided

Engineering 

Support 

Services

Statutory engineering approvals and the 

construction of new residential/commercial 

subdivision developments.

Traffic 

Management

Safe and efficient management of Council's 

Local Road Network. Community education 

programs for safe traffic behaviour around 

schools. Delivery of School Crossing Safety 

program at flagged and un-flagged crossings, 

including management of Crossing Supervisors.
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Major Initiatives

1)

2)

3)

4)

5)

6)

7)

8)

9)

10)

Indicator Performance Measure
2016/17 

Actual

Sealed local road requests

(The number of sealed local road requests per 

100 kilometres of

sealed local roads)

Sealed local roads below the intervention 

level

Cost of sealed local road reconstruction 

(The direct reconstruction cost to Council per 

square metre of sealed

local roads reconstructed)

Cost of sealed local road resealing  

(The direct resealing cost to Council per square 

metre of sealed local

roads resealed)

Satisfaction with sealed local roads

(Community satisfaction rating out of 100 with 

how Council has performed on the condition of 

sealed local roads)

Implement the Bicycle Plan 2016-2020 with work on the 10 programmed cycling paths and the

development of a promotional campaign to encourage cycling participation.

Implement the Bicycle Strategy by delivering 12 shared path projects to improve cycling links to stations,

including the construction of Plenty Road and Bridge Inn Road shared paths and landscaping of the

Darebin Creek Trail

Improve congestion and access in South Morang by commencing the Findon Road and Ferres Boulevard

intersection upgrade and the Findon Road extension between Williamsons Road and Plenty Road

Improve road safety and congestion on the local road network by completing 11 road upgrade projects,

implementing a ‘Local Area Traffic Management Plan’ in Mill Park and designing a ‘Local Area Traffic

Management Plan’ in Thomastown

Campaign for Council’s advocacy priorities in the State election

Advocate for the Northern Outer Suburban Arterial Road package, including duplication of: Epping Road;

Bridge Inn Road; Findon Road and Craigieburn Road

Collaborate with VicRoads to get the best community outcomes from the O'Herns Road interchange,

Plenty Road Stage 2

Advocate to bring forward the delivery of the E6 transport corridor/Outer Metro Ring including the

development of a benefits study

Advocate for the delivery of the Wollert Rail Corridor through the timely development of the Wollert Rail

Corridor business case and land purchase to secure the corridor

Advocate for the extension of tram route 86 from McKimmies Road through to the Plenty Valley Town

Centre

Other Initiatives

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Computation

 R
o

a
d

s

Satisfaction

   4.64

Condition Number of kilometres of 

sealed local roads below 

the renewal intervention
98.90%

Satisfaction Community satisfaction 

rating out of 100 with how 

Council has performed on 

the condition of sealed 

local roads

62

(The percentage of sealed local roads that are 

below the renewal intervention level set by 

Council and not requiring renewal)

Service Cost
Direct cost of sealed local 

road reconstruction divided 

by Square metres of sealed 

local roads reconstructed

$120.95

Service Cost Direct cost of sealed local 

road resealing divided by 

Square metres of sealed 

local roads resealed

$21.32

level set by Council divided 

by Kilometres of sealed 

local roads
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Services

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Exp 2,232     2,399     2,419      

Rev (154) (136) (8)

NET       2,078       2,263       2,411 

Exp 2,637     3,448     3,391      

Rev (270) (352) (129)

NET       2,367       3,096       3,262 

Exp 12,434   12,669   11,536    

Rev (8,920) (8,464) (7,367)

NET       3,514       4,205       4,169 

Exp 22          106        169         

Rev (10) (3) -

NET 12 103 169

Exp 10,765   12,239   11,729    

Rev (5,017) (5,377) (4,629)

NET       5,748       6,862       7,100 

Exp 3,047     3,539     3,412      

Rev (1,752) (1,733) (1,499)

NET 1,295 1,806 1,913

Exp 831        1,026     981         

Rev (170) (205) (86)

NET          661          821          895 

Exp 1,103     1,080     1,171      

Rev (828) (815) (822)

NET          275          265          349 

2.2  Health & Wellbeing
A healthy community that supports and includes diverse people through all of life’s stages and cares

about life-long learning has a sense of wellbeing and belonging. Health services are available locally and

easily accessed in community hubs. Support is available for young people, families, the elderly, and

those who are isolated and disadvantaged. Access to education, training and information enables life-

long learning for everyone.

Service area Description of services provided

Community 

Cultural 

Development 

Services

Strengthens social cohesion through the Arts, 

Events, Aboriginal reconciliation and 

multiculturalism and addresses race-based 

discrimination.

Community 

Planning and 

Engagement

Enhances community wellbeing through building 

social capital, planning of local place based 

programs and services, planning and delivery of 

community infrastructure, actively engaging local 

residents, community organisations and other 

stakeholders.

Community 

Support 

Service

Provides a range of Home and Community Care 

(HACC) services to eligible residents to support 

them living well in their homes.

Social Support Provides a range of Planned Activity Groups 

(PAGs) (Adult Day Care type service) including 

dementia specific, multicultural and Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait islander people; Volunteer 

Coordination to recruit, train, support and 

acknowledge local volunteers to assist with 

PAGs, Home Delivered Meals and Community 

Transport.

Cultural 

Heritage 

Management

Management of Cultural Heritage Policy and 

Strategy. Strategic heritage initiatives. 

Relationship management with statutory 

authorities and organisations.  Coordination of 

protection for Council owned heritage places. 

Internal advice on heritage places, projects, 

assets and community history.

Family, 

Children and 

Youth Services

Provides a range of programs, services and 

activities to families and children within the City 

of Whittlesea.

Health 

Services

Immunisation Program for infants, school aged 

children and adults. Provision of public health 

surveillance and enforcement services. Plan, 

implement and evaluate activities to promote the 

health and wellbeing of the community.

Positive 

Ageing 

Services

Coordinated and integrated planning of land use, 

facility and service provision for an ageing 

population.
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Major Initiatives

11)

12)

13)

14)

15)

16)

17)

18)

19)

 20)

 

21)

 
22)

 

23)

 

24)

 

Deliver a VicHealth funded Alcohol Culture Change Initiative to address youth drinking culture —an

initiative under the ‘Health and Wellbeing Partnership Plan’
Review the 2013-18 Plan ‘Connect: A municipal plan for children, young people and their families’

Provide training and support young people to strengthen their engagement and voice on significant

issues, as part of the ‘Youth Plan 2030+’ implementation
Respond to the reform of the national market-based aged care and disability system

Deliver an Intercultural Centre Business Case and a Language Services Review under the ‘Multicultural

Action Plan’
Complete an Aboriginal Gathering Place Feasibility Study as part of the ‘Reconciliation Action Plan’

Promote a guide for accessible public toilets across the municipality and develop a priority process to

make Council's public buildings more accessible as part of the ‘Disability Action Plan’

Implement phase 3 of the 'Pokies Play You' gambling advocacy campaign

Other Initiatives

Implement Building Respect: Whittlesea's Anti-Racism Strategy 2015-2019.

Advocate for gambling reforms (government and industry based) that prevent harm from gambling

products and activities such as poker machines, on-line and sports betting.

Support the development and implementation of the Whittlesea Suicide Prevention project.

Emergency Management - Respond to State Government proposed new directions in emergency

management and ensure Council is prepared for emergencies

Develop the Positive Ageing Action Plan 2019-23 - Develop the second action plan for the Positive

Ageing Strategy.

Implement Soccer Strategy 
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Indicator Performance Measure
2016/17 

Actual

Critical and major non-compliance 

notifications (The percentage of critical and 

major non-compliance outcome notifications that 

are followed up by Council)

M
a

te
rn

a
l 
a

n
d

 C
h

ild
 H

e
a

lt
h

Number of critical non-

compliance notifications 

and major non-compliance 

notifications about a food 

premises followed up 

divided by Number of 

critical non-compliance 

notifications and major non-

compliance notifications 

about food premises 

100%

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Computation
F

o
o

d
 S

a
fe

ty

Timeliness Time taken to action food complaints  (The 

average number of days it has taken Council to 

action food complaints received from members 

of the public about the safety or handling of food 

for sale)

Number of days between 

receipt and first response 

action for all food 

complaints divided by 

Number of food complaints

1.23

Service 

Standard

Food safety assessments (The percentage of 

registered class 1 and class 2 food premises that 

receive an annual food safety assessment)

Number of registered class 

1 and class 2 food 

premises that receive an 

annual food safety 

assessment in accordance 

with the Food Act 1984 

divided by Number of 

registered class 1 and 

class 2 food premises that 

require an annual food 

safety assessment in 

accordance with the Food 

Act 1984

99.11%

Service Cost Cost of food safety service (The direct cost of 

the food safety service per food premises 

registered by Council, or for which Council has 

received  notification, during the year)

Direct cost of the food 

safety service divided by 

Number of food premises 

registered or notified in 

accordance with the Food 

Act 1984

 $ 270.47 

Cost of MCH service (The cost to Council of the 

MCH service per hour of service delivered

Cost to Council of the MCH 

service divided by Hours 

worked by MCH nurses
 $   70.35 

Health & 

Safety 

Participation Participation in MCH service  (Percentage of  

children enrolled who participate in the MCH 

service)

Number of children who 

attend the MCH service at 

least once (in the year) 

divided by Number of 

children enrolled in the 

MCH service 

78.23%

Satisfaction Participation in first MCH home visit (The 

percentage of infants enrolled in MCH service 

who receive the first MCH home visit)

Number first MCH home 

visits divided by Number of 

birth notifications received
105.71%

Service 

standard

Infant enrolments in MCH service (The 

percentage of infants enrolled in the MCH 

service)

Number of infants enrolled 

in the MCH service (from 

birth notifications received) 

divided by Number of birth 

notifications received

100%

Service cost
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Indicator Performance Measure
2016/17 

Actual

Satisfaction  User satisfaction with immunisation Service 

(The proportion of users who are satisfied with 

the children immunisation service) 100

Service 

standard

Vaccination of children by council (The 

proportion of children who are fully vaccinated by 

Council)
39.95%

Service 

standard

Return of consent cards by secondary school 

children (The proportion of eligible secondary 

school children who return consent cards) 96.83%

Service cost Cost of immunisation service (The direct cost 

of immunising children and secondary school 

children per vaccination)
 $   20.62 

Participation Vaccination of children (The proportion of 

children who are fully vaccinated)
94.85%

Participation Vaccination of secondary school children 

(The proportion of secondary school children 

who are fully vaccinated by council)
85.08%

Utilisation Library collection usage (The number of library 

collection item loans per library collection item)
4.92

Resource 

standard

Standard of library collection (The percentage 

of the library collection that has been purchased 

within the last five years) 83.95%

Service cost Cost of library service (The direct cost to 

Council of the library service per visit)  $     6.01 

Participation Active library members (The percentage of the 

municipal population that are active library 

members) 14.89%

L
ib

ra
ri
e

s

Number of library collection 

item loans divided by 

Number of library collection 

items

Number of library collection 

items purchased in the last 

5 years divided by Number 

of library collection items

Direct cost of the library 

service divided by Number 

of visits

Number of active library 

members divided by 

municipal population 

Participation Participation in MCH service by Aboriginal 

children (Percentage of Aboriginal children 

enrolled who participated in the MCH service)

Number of Aboriginal 

children who attend the 

MCH service at least once 

(in the year) divided by 

number of Aboriginal 

children enrolled in the 

MCH service 

Im
m

u
n

is
a

ti
o

n

User satisfaction with how 

council has performed on 

the provision of children 

immunisation service

Percentage of children fully 

vaccinated by council

Number of secondary 

school consent cards 

returned divided by the 

total number of secondary 

school children

Direct cost of immunisation 

services divided by the 

total number of 

vaccinations

Percentage of children who 

are fully vaccinated in each 

age group

Number of secondary 

school children fully 

vaccinated by council 

divided by the total number 

of secondary school 

children

M
a

te
rn

a
l 
a

n
d

 C
h

ild
 H

e
a

lt
h

Computation

65.37%

14



Services

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Exp 1,362     2,557     2,735      

Rev (1,917) (1,591) (1,875)

NET (555)          966          860 

Exp 483        595        669         

Rev (168) (226) (260)

NET          315          369          409 

Exp 2,934     3,046     3,343      

Rev (4,580) (4,939) (5,091)

NET (1,646) (1,893) (1,748)

Major Initiatives

25)

26)

27)

Other Initiatives
28)

29)

30)

31) Review and update Council's Family Violence Strategy

Protection of Council assets to minimise damage 

during construction. Parking enforcement 

services and removal of derelict and abandoned 

vehicles. Local laws prosecutions and review.  

Proactive and compliance activities on Unsightly 

Properties. Municipal fire prevention and 

inspections in urban and rural areas. Litter 

investigations and prosecution of dumped 

rubbish in the public domain and notified private 

properties.

Engage key stakeholders to update the 'Family Violence Strategy'

Conduct a CCTV pilot project at may Road Shopping Precinct, Lalor to strengthen community safety

Raise awareness on how to prevent fires, keep animals, drive and park safely near shopping centres and

schools in order to improve community safety

2.3  Community Safety
For our community to be safe where harm from violence, alcohol and drugs is removed. Council is

committed to improving safety in our neighbourhoods and towns and working in partnership with police

and service providers to address safety issues and build a safe community for all who work, live and visit

our City. 

Service area Description of services provided

Animal 

Management

Domestic animal registration and renewals.  

Animal pound/shelter and associated vet 

services (dogs, cats, livestock).  Animal 

collection service (dogs, cats, livestock). 

Investigations of dog attacks and noise & 

nuisance animal complaints. Audit of declared 

dangerous, guard dogs and domestic animal 

business premises. Ensure compliance with all 

associated legislative requirements. Review and 

implementation of Domestic Animals 

Management Plan.

Emergency 

Management 

Planning

Supports Emergency Management Planning 

Committee, build community emergency 

preparedness and resilience, increase councils 

capacity to respond to all emergencies.  Leads 

business continuity planning.

Local Laws 

Enforcement

Implement the Community Safety and Crime Prevention Strategy (2016-2020).

Support for responsible management and regulation of alcohol in the Municipality through

implementation of Council's Alcohol Harm Reduction Policy.

Review and update Council's Tobacco Strategy.  
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Indicator Performance Measure
2016/17 

Actual

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Computation
A

n
im

a
l 
M

a
n

a
g

e
m

e
n

t

Timeliness Time taken to action animal management 

requests (applicable from 1 July 2015) (The 

average number of days it has taken for Council 

to action animal management related requests)

Number of days between 

receipt and first response 

action for all animal

management requests 

divided by Number of 

animal management 

requests

1

Service 

standard

Animals reclaimed (The percentage of collected 

registrable animals under the Domestic Animals 

Act 1994 reclaimed)

Number of animals 

reclaimed divided by 

Number of animals 

collected
37.13%

Service cost Cost of animal management service (The 

direct cost to Council of the animal management 

service per registrable animal under the 

Domestic Animals Act 1994)

Direct cost of the animal 

management service 

divided by Number of 

registered animals 
 $   55.28 

Health & 

safety 

Animal prosecutions (The number of 

successful animal management prosecutions)

Number of successful 

animal management 

prosecutions 
1
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Services

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Exp 1,265     1,351     1,469      

Rev (4,902) (547) (375)

NET (3,637) 804 1,094

Major Initiatives

32)

33)

34)

35)

36)

37)

Other Initiatives

38)

39)

40)

Implement the 'Economic Development Strategy' with a focus on the priority application approval

process, the launch of an investment prospectus and the land capability assessment

Investigate co-working spaces and business incubator to support emerging and small businesses, and

deliver a business education program (with Business Victoria and the ATO), networking opportunities

and events.
Create inviting and active town and activity centres by commencing the upgrade of the Lalor Shopping

Centre, developing Urban Design Frameworks at Epping Central and upgrading Local Activity Centres

Enable job growth through good land use planning across the Shenstone/Vearings Road/Cooper Street

West precincts

Support job creation opportunities for vulnerable groups through external partnerships and City of

Whittlesea programs

Investigate and promote innovative agribusiness opportunities on green wedge land, and partner with

Melbourne Polytechnic, Yarra Valley Water and Deakin University

2.4  Jobs and Investment
A diverse economy offers varied career opportunities so people can live and work in Whittlesea.

Business attraction requires infrastructure and transport planning, affordable housing, skill development

and a supportive regulatory environment. We need to work on supporting and developing opportunities

for local businesses like growing the food we need locally. Education facilities offer everyone career and

skill development options.

For 2017-21, Council will focus on increasing the number of local jobs. Residents benefit from local

employment opportunities in multiple ways. Local workers spend less time commuting, spend more of

their money locally and form stronger relationships within their community.

Service area Description of services provided

City of 

Whittlesea 

Business 

Support

Provides many levels of support to businesses 

including guidance, assistance through other 

Council departments, promotion of funding 

opportunities, networking with complementary 

businesses, promotion of their business to 

increase customer base.

Economic Development activity will focus on Council’s vision to attract 10,000 jobs in five years. A

priority application process will be launched to fast track developments that trigger jobs and investment.

We will develop and launch an investment prospectus that will leverage of the regional Investment

Attraction Strategy to highlight development opportunities in our city. We will actively pursue co-working

spaces and a business incubator with the completion of a feasibility study and provide a range of

programs to support our business community. We will continue to create a viable agribusiness sector

with the completion of the Land Capability Assessment and partnerships that support the agribusiness

economy. We will support job creation opportunities for vulnerable groups by partnering with a minimum

of two workforce engagement programs.

Explore partnerships with local governments in growth corridors to increase understanding and

awareness of the barriers and trends related to women’s employment in outer suburban locations.

Strengthen, coordinate and promote work experience and student placement programs across Council

and health sector partner organisations to maximise employment pathways, with a focus on local young

people.

17



Indicator Performance Measure
2016/17 

Actual

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Computation
E

c
o

n
o

m
ic

 D
e

v
e

lo
p

m
e

n
t

Participation Participation in business development 

activities (The percentage of businesses with an 

ABN in the municipality who participate in at 

least one Council business development activity)

Number of businesses with 

an ABN in the municipality 

who participate in a

business development 

activity divided by Number 

of businesses with an ABN 

in the municipality

7.77%

Economic 

activity

Change in number of businesses 

(The percentage change in the number of 

businesses with an ABN in the municipality)

Number of businesses with 

an ABN in the municipality 

at the end of the financial 

year less the number of 

businesses at the start of 

the financial year divided 

by Number of businesses 

with an ABN in the 

municipality at the start of 

the financial year

8.37%

Service 

standard

Delivery of planned business development 

activities 

(The percentage of planned Council business 

development activities

that are delivered)

Number of business 

development activities 

delivered divided by 

Number of planned 

business development 

activities

100%

Service cost Cost of economic development service (The 

direct cost to Council in providing economic 

development

services per business with an ABN in the 

municipality

Direct cost of delivering 

economic development 

activities divided by 

Number of businesses with 

an ABN in the municipality 

 $   88.40 
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Services

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Exp 701        992        686         

Rev (735) (725) (511)

NET (34) 267 175

Exp 508        1,488     1,771      

Rev (52) - -

NET 456 1,488 1,771

Exp 1,594     1,552     1,913      

Rev - - -

NET 1,594 1,552 1,913

Exp 1,671     1,682     1,738      

Rev (129) (85) (60)

NET 1,542 1,597 1,678

Exp 2,538     1,870     1,866      

Rev (251) (154) (3)

NET 2,287 1,716 1,863

Advocates on behalf of and along-side 

Whittlesea communities and other partners, 

including members of the organisation to 

influence change in respect to public 

policy/strategy and resource allocation by state 

and federal governments. This includes 

advocating for local investment by not for profit 

organisations, the private sector and 

philanthropic organisations.

Corporate 

Planning

Coordination of the corporate planning 

processes of the organisation including: Council 

Plan, Council Action Plan, Business Plans, 

LGPRF and other reporting requirements.

Customer 

Service

Implementation of the Customer Service 

Strategy and associate projects annually. 

Management of Frontline Customer Services 

and Customer Contact Centre. Customer 

Request Management for service requests and 

complaints.

Financial 

Services

Good governance is critical to keep Council sustainable organisationally. It means that the decision-

making processes for managing public resources are accessible, transparent and appropriate. Council

must take into consideration principles of social justice and human rights in the delivery of democratic

government.

It links to our people, where we need to attract, develop and retain skills to build a high performance

culture. Council also understands the importance of adapting to the fast-paced change in technology,

looking for continuous improvement opportunities aimed at delivering best-value services and operations

to our community. Council is committed to exploring regional collaboration and joint services to support

organisational sustainability.  

2.5  Organisational Sustainability

Budget preparation and reporting, forward 

financial planning, performance reporting and 

management, compliance, and accounts payable 

services. 

Governance Delivery of corporate and civic functions and 

events. Production of agenda and minutes for 

corporate meetings. Guidance and advice to 

Councillors on governance matters.  Process 

request for Council documents under Freedom of 

Information legislation. Respond to requests for 

information as part of investigations by the 

Victorian and Commonwealth Ombudsman, 

Local Government Victoria, the Human Rights 

Commission. Produce Council's Annual Report. 

Maintain statutory registers. Coordinate naming 

proposals with the Office of Geographic Place 

Names.

Service area Description of services provided

Advocacy
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2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Exp 6,260     7,403     8,737      

Rev (458) (215) (1,095)

NET 5,802 7,188 7,642

Exp 1,417     1,478     1,619      

Rev - - -

NET 1,417 1,478 1,619

Exp 765        750        815         

Rev - - -

NET 765 750 815

Exp 643        773        879         

Rev - - -

NET 643 773 879

Exp 2,095     2,239     2,267      

Rev (1,072) (1,030) (1,042)

NET 1,023 1,209 1,225

Exp 1,321     1,798     1,749      

Rev (32) (28) (41)

NET 1,289 1,770 1,708

Exp 3,024     2,018     2,291      

Rev (116) (82) (125)

NET 2,908 1,936 2,166

Exp 984        1,033     1,023      

Rev (887) (450) (952)

NET 97 583 71

Exp 4,676     4,458     4,463      

Rev (94) (273) (91)

NET 4,582 4,185 4,372

Major Initiatives

41)

42)

43)

44)

45)

46)

47)

Service area Description of services provided

Council 

Operations

Core governance functions of the Chief 

Executive Officer and executive leadership team.

Increase online transactions for customers as part of the 'Information Technology & Digital Strategy'

Enhance the customer experience in interacting with Council

Conduct service reviews to optimise community outcomes

Strategically manage the budget and long term financial plan to meet current and future community

service and infrastructure requirements and Council Plan actions

Provision of support, systems, resources and 

advice to enable achievement of best value 

purchasing and contracting of works, goods and 

services.

Research 

Services

Operates as an internal consultancy providing 

internal decision makers and external 

stakeholders with accurate, accessible and 

contemporary information.

Revenue 

Generation

Generation and issue of rate notices, collection 

of rates and charges including debt recovery, 

sundry debtors and Fire Services Levy.

Embed critical elements of the 'People Strategy': Leadership, Culture, Capability, Enabling Organisation

and Wellbeing to support the best outcomes for the community

Implement 2018/19 priority actions arising from the 'Communications Strategy'

Collaborate with the Northern Region Councils on priority contracts and tenders

Risk 

Management

Provision of guidance and support in relation to 

management of risk and insurance claims.

Staff Services Responsible for building, developing and 

facilitating a motivated and engaged workforce 

that has the skills and capabilities required to 

deliver quality services to the organisation and 

community, and support the delivery of people 

and culture strategy and related organisational 

improvement projects.

Information, 

Commun-

ication and 

Technology 

Services

Provides Information Management, 

Communication and Technology environment for 

all Councillors and Departments within the City of 

Whittlesea and to support the Council's online 

service delivery platform.  Responsible for 

delivering a strong Information Management 

Framework and service and ensuring a sound 

ICT environment to support the Council's 

services.

Marketing and 

Commun-

ication 

Services

Strategically promote the City of Whittlesea to 

build a positive image of its projects, services 

and initiatives. 

Property & 

Valuations

Provide statutory valuations on all properties 

within the municipality for general valuation and 

supplementary valuation purposes and 

undertakes continual maintenance of Council’s 

property data base system.

Procurement 

Services

20



48)

49)

50)

Indicator Performance Measure
2016/17 

Actual

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Computation

Satisfaction with Council decisions  

(Community satisfaction rating out 100 with how 

Council has performed in making decisions in the 

interests of the Community)

Community satisfaction 

rating out of 100 with how 

Council has performed in 

making decisions in the 

interests of the community

60

Digital Transformation streamline operational processes & customer service.

Customer Service Strategy 2016

Sports Grounds Fees and Charges Policy finalised and implemented - provide an equitable framework

for the administration of sporting facilities

Other Initiatives

60

Attendance Councillor attendance at Council meetings 

(The percentage of attendance at ordinary and 

special Council meetings by Councillors)

The sum of the number of 

Councillors who attended 

each ordinary and special 

Council

Meeting divided by 

(Number of ordinary and 

special Council meetings) 

multiplied by (the number 

of Councillors elected at 

the last Council general 

election)

87.73%

Service cost Cost of governance (The direct cost of 

delivering Council’s governance service per 

Councillor)

Direct cost of the 

governance service divided 

by Number of Councillors 

elected at the last Council 

general election

   52,537.82 

G
o

v
e

rn
a

n
c
e

Transparency Council decisions made at meetings closed 

to the public (The percentage of Council 

resolutions made at an ordinary or special 

meeting of Council, or at a meeting of special 

committee consisting only of councillors, closed 

to the public under section 89(2) of the Local 

Government Act 1989)

Number of Council 

resolutions made at an 

ordinary or special 

meetings of Council, or at 

meetings of a special 

committee consisting only 

of councillors, closed to the

public under section 89(2) 

of the Local Government 

Act 1989 divided by 

Number of council 

resolutions made at an 

ordinary or special 

meetings of Council or 

meetings of a special 

committee consisting only 

of councillors

26.95%

Consultation 

and 

Engagement

Satisfaction with community consultation 

and engagement (Community satisfaction rating 

out of 100 with the consultation and engagement 

efforts of the Council. This includes consulting 

and engaging directly with the Community on key 

local issues requiring decisions by Council)

the Community on key local issues requiring 

decisions by Council)

Community satisfaction 

rating out of 100 with how 

council has performed on

community consultation 

and engagement

Satisfaction
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Services

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Exp 23,898   23,229   25,166    

Rev (1,920) (1,775) (1,733)

NET 21,978 21,454 23,433

Exp 1,923     1,897     1,934      

Rev (1,127) (1,015) (965)

NET 796 882 969

Exp 2,960     2,939     3,182      

Rev - - -

NET 2,960 2,939 3,182

Exp 12,127   12,248   12,528    

Rev (4,562) (4,538) (4,476)

NET 7,565 7,710 8,052

Exp 21,175   22,411   21,865    

Rev (4,902) (5,058) (5,419)

NET 16,273 17,353 16,447

Exp 5,996     6,856     6,921      

Rev (2,560) (2,621) (1,891)

NET 3,436 4,235 5,030

Land Planning Undertake and complete strategic land use 

planning, design and policy projects including 

policy/strategy development, structure plans, 

design guidelines, master plans, development 

contributions and infrastructure planning. 

Consistent, accurate and timely assessment of 

planning applications for land uses, 

developments and subdivision of land.

2.6  Planning and infrastructure
Places, spaces and events bring people together to socialise and access services and also help build our

community and an understanding and appreciation of our diversity. Our community hubs provide a

central place to meet, shop, have a haircut, go to the doctor, post a letter, do banking, have coffee, visit

the library and be entertained. They bring people together. Urban design develops a sense of place built

on heritage. Parks and recreation facilities improve community wellbeing and can be used for events and

celebrations. There are many pathways to bring people together in all the communities that together

make our City.

Provision and management of community and 

sporting facilities; community club liaison and 

development; leisure strategic planning.

City 

Presentation 

Services

Delivers waste management services to the 

municipality.  Service also includes litter 

collection, graffiti removal and street sweeping.

Service area Description of services provided

Asset and 

Facilities 

Management

Maintenance of Council assets to present an 

inviting and well maintained city through road, 

facility and other infrastructure related 

maintenance.  Also includes strategic asset 

management to understand and manage the cost 

and use of an asset over its life.

Building 

Control

Service is committed to ensuring that the 

amenity and safety of the community is 

maintained when using Buildings and Places of 

Public Entertainment, (POPEs).  This includes 

the issue of Building Permits, Occupancy 

Permits for Buildings and POPEs, assessment 

and the issue of “Report & Consent” relative to 

building siting and encroachments.  Inspection of 

existing buildings, including swimming pools, to 

ensure compliance of Essential Safety Measures 

and barriers.  Enforcement of Building 

Legislation with the assistance of the Courts as 

required.  Data entry, retrieval and dissemination 

in relation to all Building and Occupancy permits.

Capital Works 

Program 

Delivery

Service leads the organisation's planning, 

development and delivery of major infrastructure 

and building projects from concept to completion.

Leisure 

Services
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2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Exp 13,835   14,358   15,470    

Rev (618) (310) (310)

NET 13,217 14,048 15,160

Exp 1,728     1,801     1,396      

Rev (927) (965) (865)

NET 801 836 531

Major Initiatives

51)

52)

53)

54)

55)

56)

57)

58)

59)

60)

Other Initiatives

61)

62)

63)

64)

65)

Service area Description of services provided

Parks and 

Open Space

Management of parks and open space network. 

Includes planning for future parks and open 

space projects.

Upgrade Mill Park Leisure Centre

Develop and implement a policy to improve design outcomes for residential developments ('Housing

Diversity Strategy')

Commence constructing soccer facilities at Lalor, Doreen South and Harvest Home Road

Continue feasibility planning for the Mernda Aquatic and Indoor Sports Centre

Commence implementation of the 'Asset Management Strategy' including the development of five year

asset investment programs

Develop a '30 Year Infrastructure Plan' to provide a longer term view of significant community

infrastructure, including a tool for financial planning and advocacy

Property 

Services

Provides professional property management of 

Council property portfolio.

Plan for the Mernda Town Centre Community Facility Hub

Commence Construction of the Main Street Pavilion in Thomastown

Improve the city's parks by upgrading neighbourhood parks in Thomastown, Bundoora, Whittlesea and

Mill Park; and by commencing the Norris Bank Master Plan implementation

Renew the street trees of 20 streets as part of the 'Street Tree Management Plan'

Promote water as drink of choice and maximise access to water refill stations in community settings,

open space and through provision in activity centre design guidelines.

Implement the Active Whittlesea Strategy

Whittlesea Swim Centre Refurbishment

Community Meeting Spaces Strategy finalised and implemented - provide the rationale and evidence

base for planning, development and management of community meeting spaces.

Upgrade of Mill Park Leisure Centre
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Indicator Performance Measure
2016/17 

Actual

Service Performance Outcome Indicators

Computation
W

a
s
te

 C
o

lle
c
ti
o

n

Satisfaction Kerbside bin collection requests (The number 

of kerbside bin collection requests per 1000 

kerbside bin

collection households)

Number of kerbside 

garbage and recycling bin 

collection requests divided 

by Number of kerbside bin 

collection households X 

1000

282.72

Service 

Standard

Service Cost Cost of kerbside recyclables bin collection 

service (The direct cost of the kerbside 

recyclables collection service per kerbside 

recyclables collection bin)

Direct cost of the kerbside 

recyclables bin collection 

service divided by Number 

of kerbside recyclables 

collection bins

 $   27.60 

Waste 

Diversion

Kerbside collection waste diverted from 

landfill (The percentage of garbage, recyclables 

and green organics collected from kerbside bins 

that is diverted from landfill)

Weight of recyclables and 

green organics collected 

from kerbside bins divided 

by Weight of garbage, 

recyclables and green 

organics collected from 

kerbside bins 

41.80%

Kerbside collection bins missed (The number 

of kerbside collection bins missed per 10,000 

scheduled kerbside collection bin lifts)

Number of kerbside 

garbage and recycling 

collection bins missed 

divided by Number of 

scheduled kerbside 

garbage and recycling 

collection bin lifts X 10,000

3.68

Service Cost Cost of kerbside garbage bin collection 

service (The direct cost of the kerbside garbage 

bin collection

service per kerbside garbage collection bin)

Direct cost of the kerbside 

garbage bin collection 

service divided by Number 

of kerbside garbage 

collection bins

 $   54.24 

Decision 

Making

Planning decisions upheld at VCAT 

(The percentage of planning application 

decisions subject to review by VCAT that were 

not set aside)

Number of VCAT decisions 

that did not set aside 

Council’s decision in 

relation to a planning 

application divided by 

Number of VCAT Council 

decisions in relation to 

planning applications 

38.89%

S
ta

tu
to

ry
 P

la
n

n
in

g

Timeliness Time taken to decide planning applications 

(The median number of days taken between the 

receipt of a planning application and a decision 

on the application)

Median number of days 

between the receipt of 

planning application and a 

decision on planning 

application

112

Service 

Standard

Planning applications decided within 60 days 

(The percentage of planning application 

decisions made within 60 days)

Number of planning 

application decisions made 

within 60 days divided by 

Number of planning 

application decisions made

54.15%

$2,352.90

Cost of statutory planning service 

(The direct cost to Council of the statutory 

planning service per

planning application received)

Direct cost of the statutory 

planning service divided by 

Number of planning 

applications received

Service Cost
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Indicator Performance Measure
2016/17 

Actual

Utilisation Structured activities on sports fields (The 

number of structured activities per sports field)
101.15

Condition Condition of sports fields (The number of 

sports fields unavailable for use due to sub-

standard condition)

7.88

Service cost Cost of sports grounds (The direct cost per 

sports field) $14,273.58

Availability Population per sports field (Head of municipal 

population per sports field) 1,493.74 

Computation
S

p
o

rt
s
 G

ro
u

n
d

s

Number of structured 

activities divided by the 

total number of sports 

fields

Number of days sports 

fields are unavailable for 

structured activities due to 

condition excluding 

maintenance and 

reconstruction/redevelopm

ent divided by the total 

number of sports fields

Direct cost of sports 

grounds divided by the 

number of sports fields

Municipal population 

divided by the total number 

of sports fields

A
q

u
a

ti
c
 F

a
c
ili

ti
e

s

Satisfaction User satisfaction with aquatic facility 

(optional) (The satisfaction of users with the 

aquatic facility)

User satisfaction with how 

council has performed on 

provision of aquatic 

facilities

Service Cost

Utilisation Utilisation of aquatic facilities (The number of 

visits to aquatic facilities per head of municipal 

population)

Number of visits to aquatic 

facilities divided by 

Municipal population

Direct cost of indoor 

aquatic facilities less  

income received divided by 

Number of visits to indoor 

aquatic facilities

Cost of indoor aquatic facilities (The direct 

cost to council less any income received  of 

providing indoor aquatic facilities per visit)
 $     0.18 

Service Cost Cost of outdoor aquatic facilities (The direct 

cost to council less any income received of 

providing outdoor aquatic facilities per visit)

Direct cost of outdoor 

aquatic facilities less 

income received divided by 

Number of visits to outdoor 

aquatic facilities

 $   10.92 

65

Service 

standard

Health inspections of aquatic facilities

(The number of inspections by an authorised 

officer within the meaning of the Public Health 

and Wellbeing Act 2008 carried out per Council 

Aquatic facility)

Number of authorised 

officer inspections of 

Council aquatic facilities 

divided by Number of 

aquatic facilities

3.33

Health and 

safety

Reportable safety incidents at aquatic 

facilities 

(The number of WorkSafe reportable aquatic 

facility safety incidents)

 $         -   

 $     5.22 

Number of WorkSafe 

reportable aquatic facility 

safety incidents
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Services

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Actual Forecast Budget

$'000 $'000 $'000

Exp 1,092     1,164     1,169      

Rev (116) (82) (47)

NET 976 1,082 1,122

Exp 1,465     1,600     1,773      

Rev (303) (351) (284)

NET 1,162 1,249 1,490

Major Initiatives

66)

67)

68)

69)

Other Initiatives

70)

71)

72)

Service area Description of services provided

Sustainability 

Services

Provision of sustainability expertise in the 

following areas: Strategy and policy development 

and implementation; Climate change adaptation; 

Community and corporate sustainability 

education and events; Land management 

incentives, education and engagement; 

Environmental planning and compliance; Natural 

resource management & biodiversity planning.

Conservation 

and Bushland 

Management

Planning and maintenance of Council's 

conservation and bushland reserves.

2.7  Environmental Sustainability
From 2017 – 21 Council will prioritise Environmental Sustainably in our community. This means

managing the impacts of environmental, economic, and social activities so that we remain healthy over

the long term. Our natural environment is a resource for all to enjoy and we need to protect it for future

generations. This means our carbon footprint, water, waste, energy use, flora (particularly the majestic

River Red Gums) and our fauna need to be cared for. Immigration, strong housing demand, economic

growth, climate change, alternative energies and transport all provide challenges for our environment,

future planning and how we live. Our daily routines have changed; we plan for tomorrow and use

innovation to become more sustainable. Everyone does their bit to help.

Provide environmental education and conservation programs, and support community led initiatives, to

facilitate access to green open space. 

Investigate partnerships and funding options for the mapping heat vulnerability project. 

Native Vegetation Offset Plan Implementation 

Support and accelerate the development of the Waste Resource Recovery Centre together with relevant

stakeholders

Finalise the mid cycle review of the 'Environmental Sustainability Strategy' and commence

implementation of the four year plan

Endorse and implement Council's 'Biodiversity Action Plan'
Embed sustainable design into planning controls through policy development and planning scheme

amendment
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Net Cost
(Revenue)

$’000 $’000 $’000
3,094 6,471 3,377

20,268 34,808 14,540

(479) 6,747 7,226

1,094 1,469 375

27,897 31,817 3,920

72,803 88,462 15,659

2,612 2,942 331

127,289 172,716 45,427

32,038

4,639

Other 403

164,369

(150,001)

Grants commission (14,558)

Total funding sources (164,559)

Cash result (surplus)/deficit for the year (190)

Operating adjustments

Depreciation 25,355

Capital expenditure (88,410)

Loan principal (2,798)

Transfers to and from reserves 18,831

Capital contributions (98,076)

Written down value of assets sold 71

New loan borrowing (excluding carry forwards) 12,050

(Surplus)/deficit for the year (132,978)

Less

Capital grants 9,359

Capital contributions 108,923

Underlying (surplus)/deficit funds for the year (14,696)

Funding sources added in:

Rates and charges revenue

Total

Expenses added in:

Rates funded capital expenditure

Loan principal & interest

Deficit before funding sources

2.8  Reconciliation with budgeted operating result

Exp. Revenue

Road, Access & Public Transport

Organisational Sustainability

Environmental Sustainability

Health & Wellbeing

Community Safety

Jobs & Investment

Planning & Infrastructure
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3. Financial Statements

Statement of Human Resources

This section presents information in regard to the Financial Statements and Statement of Human

Resources. The budget information for the year 2018/19 has been supplemented with projection to

2021/22 extracted from the Strategic Resource Plan.

This section includes the following financial statements prepared in accordance with the Local

Government Act 1989 and the Local Government Planning and Reporting regulations 2014.

Comprehensive Income Statement

Balance Sheet

Statement of Changes in Equity

Statement of Cash Flows

Statement of Capital Works
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Comprehensive Income Statement
For the four years ending 30 June 2022

Forecast
Actual

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income

Rates and charges 4.1.1 142,871 150,001 157,147 164,667 174,215

Statutory fees and fines 4.1.2 11,053 11,634 12,095 12,576 12,856

User fees 4.1.3 12,270 12,219 12,387 13,134 13,552

Grants - Operating 4.1.4 21,866 26,917 27,183 27,944 28,538

Grants - Capital 4.1.4 11,135 10,273 1,071 - -

Contributions - monetary 4.1.5 11,676 12,378 12,014 11,908 12,158

Contributions - non-monetary 4.1.5 96,154 98,077 100,039 102,039 104,080

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of 

property, infrastructure, plant 

and equipment

164 88 196 102 141

Other income 4.1.6 7,867 8,080 7,810 7,907 8,006

Total income 315,056 329,668 329,942 340,277 353,546

Expenses

Employee costs 4.1.7 85,961 89,483 91,407 94,542 97,255

Materials and services 4.1.8 65,032 64,772 61,939 63,476 65,954

Depreciation and amortisation 4.1.9 24,839 25,355 26,163 26,915 28,467

Bad and doubtful debts 391 391 391 391 391

Borrowing costs 2,113 1,841 2,169 3,162 3,458

Other expenses 4.1.10 14,846 14,849 15,177 15,700 16,278

Total expenses 193,182 196,690 197,246 204,186 211,803

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 121,874 132,978 132,696 136,091 141,743

Total comprehensive result 121,874 132,978 132,696 136,091 141,743

Strategic Resource Plan
Projections

Budget
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Balance Sheet
For the four years ending 30 June 2022

Forecast

Actual

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 43,886 46,469 38,674 41,812 33,718

Trade and other receivables 10,892 11,265 11,668 12,262 12,758

Other financial assets 102,399 108,428 90,239 97,562 78,676

Inventories 216 223 229 236 243

Other assets 3,733 3,766 3,731 3,715 3,717

Total current assets 4.2.1 161,126 170,151 144,541 155,587 129,112

Non-current assets

Other financial assets 22 22 22 22 22

Investments in associates, joint 

arrangement and subsidiaries
2,775 2,775 2,775 2,775 2,775

Property, infrastructure, plant & 

equipment
3,141,872 3,290,338 3,458,412 3,598,597 3,803,510

Investment property 2,435 2,435 2,435 2,435 2,435

Intangible assets 719 719 719 719 719

Total non-current assets 4.2.1 3,147,823 3,296,289 3,464,363 3,604,548 3,809,461

Total assets 3,308,949 3,466,440 3,608,904 3,760,135 3,938,573

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13,657 13,602 13,007 13,330 13,850

Trust funds and deposits 9,072 9,072 9,072 9,072 9,072

Provisions 18,758 19,588 20,494 21,399 22,315

Interest-bearing liabilities 4.2.3 2,798 6,472 4,123 5,139 6,825

Total current liabilities 4.2.2 44,285 48,734 46,696 48,940 52,062

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 4,312 6,498 9,264 11,905 14,545

Interest-bearing liabilities 4.2.3 13,334 31,212 40,252 50,507 81,440

Total non-current liabilities 4.2.2 17,646 37,710 49,516 62,412 95,985

Total liabilities 61,931 86,444 96,212 111,352 148,047

Net assets 3,247,018 3,379,996 3,512,692 3,648,783 3,790,526

Equity

Accumulated surplus 2,443,019 2,595,019 2,749,567 2,875,835 3,053,735

Reserves 803,999 784,977 763,125 772,948 736,791

Total equity 4.2.4 3,247,018 3,379,996 3,512,692 3,648,783 3,790,526

Budget
Strategic Resource Plan

Projections
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Statement of Changes in Equity
For the four years ending 30 June 2022

Total
Accumulated 

Surplus

Revaluation 

Reserve

Other 

Reserves
NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2018 Forecast Actual

Balance at beginning of the financial year 3,125,144 2,350,588 679,882 94,674

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 121,874 121,874 - -

Transfers to other reserves - (46,459) - 46,459

Transfers from other reserves - 17,016 - (17,016)

Balance at end of the financial year 3,247,018 2,443,019 679,882 124,117

2019 Budget

Balance at beginning of the financial year 3,247,018 2,443,019 679,882 124,117

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 132,978 132,978 - -

Transfers to other reserves 4.3.1 - (18,035) - 18,035

Transfers from other reserves 4.3.1 - 37,057 - (37,057)

Balance at end of the financial year 4.3.2 3,379,996 2,595,019 679,882 105,095

2020

Balance at beginning of the financial year 3,379,996 2,595,019 679,882 105,095

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 132,696 132,696 - -

Transfers to other reserves - (17,039) - 17,039

Transfers from other reserves - 38,890 - (38,890)
3,512,692 2,749,567 679,882 83,243

2021

Balance at beginning of the financial year 3,512,692 2,749,567 679,882 83,243

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 136,091 136,091 - -

Transfers to other reserves - (17,112) - 17,112

Transfers from other reserves - 7,289 - (7,289)
3,648,783 2,875,835 679,882 93,066

2022

Balance at beginning of the financial year 3,648,783 2,875,835 679,882 93,066

Surplus/(deficit) for the year 141,743 141,743 - -

Transfers to other reserves - (17,552) - 17,552

Transfers from other reserves - 53,709 - (53,709)
3,790,526 3,053,735 679,882 56,909Balance at end of the financial year

Balance at end of the financial year

Balance at end of the financial year
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Statement of Cash Flows
For the four years ending 30 June 2022

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22
NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows Inflows

(Outflows) (Outflows

)

(Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows)

Rates and charges 148,193 149,787 156,933 164,442 173,929

Statutory fees and fines 10,849 11,460 11,957 12,432 12,772

User fees 14,614 12,234 12,337 12,910 13,426

Grants - operating 24,052 29,609 29,901 30,739 31,392

Grants - capital 12,249 11,301 1,178 - -

Contributions - monetary 10,718 10,846 11,082 11,324 11,572

Interest received 4,027 4,056 4,086 4,116 4,147

Other receipts 3,836 6,075 5,160 4,829 4,887

Net GST refund / payment 11,030 11,302 13,917 11,187 17,829

Employee costs (83,570) (86,468) (87,734) (90,997) (93,698)

Materials and services (88,700) (88,080) (85,919) (87,177) (90,323)

Net cash provided by/(used 

in) operating activities 

4.4.1
67,298 72,122 72,898 73,805 85,933

(50,358) (83,396) (103,791) (71,654) (142,355)

325 175 388 201 279

Payments for investments (22,899) (6,029) 18,188 (7,323) 18,887

Net cash provided by/ (used in) 

investing activities 

4.4.2
(72,932) (89,250) (85,215) (78,776) (123,189)

Finance costs (2,113) (1,841) (2,169) (3,162) (3,458)

Proceeds from borrowings - 24,350 13,164 15,394 37,758

Repayment of borrowings (11,964) (2,798) (6,472) (4,123) (5,139)

Net cash provided by/(used in) 

financing activities 

4.4.3
(14,077) 19,711 4,523 8,109 29,161

Net increase/(decrease) in 

cash & cash equivalents 
(19,711) 2,583 (7,794) 3,138 (8,095)

63,597 43,886 46,469 38,674 41,812

43,886 46,469 38,674 41,812 33,718

Strategic Resource Plan 

Projections
Budget

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash and cash equivalents at               

the end of the financial year 

Forecast 

Actual

Cash and cash equivalents at the 

beginning of the financial year 

Payments for property, infrastructure, 

plant and equipment 

Proceeds from sale of property, 

infrastructure, plant and equipment 

Cash flows from financing activities 
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Statement of Capital Works
For the four years ending 30 June 2022

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

NOTES $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Property

Land - 280 - - -

Total land - 280 - - -

Buildings 3,111 10,390 7,626 7,274 19,192

Building improvements 8,219 6,004 1,745 1,254 2,095

Total buildings 11,330 16,394 9,371 8,528 21,287

Total property 11,330 16,674 9,371 8,528 21,287

Plant and equipment

1,325 986 1,841 997 1,355

Fixtures, fittings and furniture 152 90 240 90 90

Computers and 

telecommunications
1,475 2,326 956 897 854

Total plant and equipment 2,952 3,402 3,037 1,984 2,299

Infrastructure

Roads 14,001 17,839 38,369 19,597 20,041

Bridges 298 200 100 100 -

Footpaths and cycleways 2,371 3,800 5,510 3,026 3,458

Drainage 1,517 247 1,545 65 770

Recreational, leisure and 

community facilities
11,797 36,412 17,543 19,534 87,472

Waste management 263 - - - -

4,604 4,967 3,995 6,405 4,871

Other infrastructure 1,468 4,869 11,005 1,163 1,269

Total infrastructure 36,319 68,334 78,067 49,890 117,881

Total capital works 

expenditure
4.5.1 50,601 88,410 90,475 60,402 141,467

Represented by:

New asset expenditure 20,854 51,621 64,664 33,479 113,541

Asset renewal expenditure 9,672 11,047 9,603 16,832 17,948

Asset expansion expenditure 1,567 1,380 2,141 2,952 1,903

Asset upgrade expenditure 18,508 24,362 14,067 7,139 8,075

Total capital works 

expenditure
4.5.1 50,601 88,410 90,475 60,402 141,467

Grants (11,135) (12,789) (6,843) - -

Contributions (5,516) (17,220) (18,833) (4,518) (13,816)

Council cash (21,650) (46,351) (51,635) (40,490) (89,893)

Borrowings (12,300) (12,050) (13,164) (15,394) (37,758)

Total capital works 

expenditure
4.5.1 (50,601) (88,410) (90,475) (60,402) (141,467)

Forecast 

Actual

Strategic Resource Plan 

Projections
Budget

Plant, machinery and equipment

Parks, open space and streetscapes

Funding sources represented by:
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Statement of Human Resources

For the four years ending 30 June 2022

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Staff expenditure

Employee costs - operating 85,961 89,483 91,407 94,542 97,255

Total staff expenditure 85,961 89,483 91,407 94,542 97,255

FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE

Staff numbers

Employees 837.3 839.0 844.4 851.0 855.6

Total staff numbers 837.3 839.0 844.4 851.0 855.6

Budget

2018/19 Full Time Part time

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Executive 838 838 -

Community Services 28,115 13,475 14,640

Partnership & Engagement 13,712 8,095 5,617

City Transport & Presentation 21,500 20,831 669

Planning & Major Projects 12,882 11,692 1,190

Corporate Services 11,722 10,198 1,524

Total permanent staff 

expenditure
88,769 65,129 23,640

Casuals, temporary and other 

expenditure
714

Total expenditure 89,483

Budget

2018/19 Full Time Part time

Executive 5 5 -

Community Services 264 113 151

Partnership & Engagement 141 83 58

City Transport & Presentation 206 200 6

Planning & Major Projects 105 95 10

Corporate Services 104 90 14

Total permanent staff 

expenditure
825 586 239

Casuals, temporary and other 

expenditure
14

Total staff 839

A summary of human resources expenditure categorised according to the organisational structure of

Council is included below:

A summary of the number of full time equivalent (FTE) Council staff in relation to the above expenditure

is included below:

Permanent

Permanent

Casual

Casual

Directorate

Directorate

Comprises

Comprises

Forecast 

Actual

Strategic Resource Plan 

Projections
Budget
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4. Notes to the financial statements 

4.1 Comprehensive Income Statement

4.1.1 Rates and charges

$’000 $’000 $’000

General rates        141,781            142,085 304 0.2%

Supplementary rates            2,155                1,510 (645) (29.9%)

Waste management charge                  -                  7,198 7,198 -

Special rates               210                   210 0 0.0%

Rebates
1 (1,275) (1,002) 273 (21.4%)

Total rates and charges        142,871            150,001 7,130 5.0%

2017/18 2018/19

dollar/$NAV dollar/$NAV

General rate for rateable residential and 

commercial properties  0.06532185      0.04912979 (24.8%)

Farm rate  0.03919311      0.02947788 (24.8%)

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

General rate        141,004            140,673 (331) (0.2%)

Farm rate               777                1,412 635 81.7%

Total amount to be raised by general rates        141,781            142,085 304 0.2%

Annualised 2017/18 supplementary rate revenue            4,217                      -   

Total annualised general rates        145,998            142,085 (3,913) (2.7%)

Change

This section presents detailed information on material components of the financial statements. Council needs 

to assess which components are material, considering the dollar amounts and nature of these components.

Rates and charges are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s annual budget.

In developing the Strategic Resource Plan, rates and charges were identified as an important source of

revenue. Planning for future rate increases has therefore been an important component of the Strategic

Resource Planning process. The Fair Go Rates System (FGRS) sets out the maximum amount councils may

increase rates in a year. For 201/8/19 the FGRS cap has been set at 2.25%. The cap applies to both general

rates and municipal charges and is calculated on the basis of council’s average rates and charges.  

The level of required rates and charges has been considered in this context, with reference to Council's other

sources of income and the planned expenditure on services and works to be undertaken for the community.

To achieve these objectives while maintaining service levels and a strong capital expenditure program, the

total annualised general rates and charges will increase by 2.25% in line with the rate cap. 

4.1.1(a) The reconciliation of the total rates and charges to the Comprehensive Income Statement is as

follows:

Forecast 

Actual
Budget Change

%

1
 Melbourne Wholesale Markets Rebate ($801,965), Sustainable Land Management Rebate ($200,000).

4.1.1(b) The rate in the dollar to be levied as general rates under section 158 of the Act for each type or class

of land compared with the previous financial year

Type or class of land Change

4.1.1(c) The estimated total amount to be raised by general rates in relation to each type or class of land, and

the estimated total amount to be raised by general rates, compared with the previous financial year

Type or class of land
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2017/18 2018/19

Number Number $’000 %

General rate          81,307              83,978 2,671 3.3%

Farm rate               187                   186 (1) (0.5%)

Total number of assessments          81,494              84,164 2,670 3.3%

4.1.1(e) The basis of valuation to be used is the Net Assets Value (NAV)

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

General rate     2,158,602         2,863,291           704,689 32.6%

Farm rate          19,828              47,906             28,078 141.6%

Total value of land     2,178,430         2,911,197           732,767 33.6%

Not applicable.

Per Rateable 

Property

Per Rateable 

Property

2017/18 2018/19

 $  $  $ %

Residential/Farm waste charge                  -                  93.15               93.15 -

Commercial/Industrial waste charge                  -                150.20             150.20 -

2017/18 2018/19

$ $ $ %

Residential/Farm waste charge                  -           6,781,199        6,781,199 -

Commercial/Industrial waste charge                  -              416,949           416,949 -

Total                  -           7,198,148        7,198,148 -

Change

4.1.1(d) The number of assessments in relation to each type or class of land, and the total number of

assessments, compared with the previous financial year

Type or class of land
Change

4.1.1(f) The estimated total value of each type or class of land, and the estimated total value of land,

compared with the previous financial year

Type or class of land
Change

4.1.1(g) The municipal charge under Section 159 of the Act compared with the previous financial year

Council does not have a municipal charge under section 159 of the Act.

4.1.1(h) The estimated total amount to be raised by municipal charges compared with the previous financial 

year

4.1.1(i) The rate or unit amount to be levied for each type of service rate or charge under Section 162 of the 

Act compared with the previous financial year

 Type of Charge
Change

4.1.1(j) The estimated total amount to be raised by each type of service rate or charge, and the estimated

total amount to be raised by service rates and charges, compared with the previous financial year

 Type of Charge
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2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

General rate        141,004            140,673 (331) (0.23%)

Farm rate               777                1,412 635 81.72%

Residential/Farm waste charge                  -                  6,781 6,781 -

Commercial/Industrial waste charge                  -                     417 417 -

Total Rates and charges        141,781            149,283 7,502 5.29%

Annualised 2017/18 supplementary rate revenue            4,217                      -   

Total annualised rates and charges        145,998            149,283 3,285 2.25%

4.1.1(l) Fair Go Rates System Compliance

2017/18 2018/19

$139,001 $145,998

             79,249             84,164 

$1,754 $1,735

2.00% 2.25%

$1,789 $1,774

$141,781 $149,283

$141,781 $142,085

      The variation of returned levels of value (e.g. valuation appeals)

      Changes of use of land such that rateable land becomes non-rateable land and vice versa

      Changes of use of land such that residential land becomes business land and vice versa.

Rates to be levied

4.1.1(k) The estimated total amount to be raised by all rates and charges compared with the previous financial

year

Change

Council is fully compliant with the State Government’s Fair Go Rates System.  As per table 4.1.1(k), Council's 

total annualised rates and charge has increased by 2.25%.

Total Rates $'000

Number of rateable properties

Base Average Rates

Maximum Rate Increase (set by the State Government)

Capped Average Rate

Maximum General Rates Revenue $'000

Budgeted General Rates Revenue $'000

4.1.1(m) Any significant changes that may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and charges

There are no known significant changes which may affect the estimated amounts to be raised by rates and

charges. However, the total amount to be raised by rates and charges may be affected by:

      The making of supplementary valuations

4.1.1(n) Differential rates 

The rate and amount of rates payable in relation to land in each category of differential are:

      A rate of 0.02947788 in the NAV dollar in respect of farm land.

Each differential rate will be determined by multiplying the Net Annual Value of each rateable land

(categorised by the characteristics described below) by the relevant percentages indicated above.

Council considers that each differential rate will contribute to the equitable and efficient carrying out of its

functions. Details of the objectives of each differential rate, the types of classes of land, which are subject to

each differential rate and the uses of each differential rate, are set out below.

      A rate of 0.04912979 in the NAV dollar in respect of residential and commercial use land (of a non-farm 

nature)
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General rate

Farm rate

2017/18 2018/19

dollar/$NAV dollar/$NAV

General rate for rateable residential and 

commercial properties  0.06532185      0.05161875 (0.20977820)

Farm rate  0.03919311      0.03097125 (0.20977820)

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

General rate        141,004            147,799               6,795 4.82%

Farm rate               777                1,484                  707 90.99%

Total amount to be raised by general rates        141,781            149,283               7,502 5.29%

Annualised 2017/18 supplementary rate revenue            4,217                      -   

Total annualised rates and charges        145,998            149,283               3,285 2.25%

The general rate for rateable residential and commercial properties applies to all properties which do not fall

into the farm rate classification (see below).

The requirements of municipal valuation are governed by the Valuation of Land Act 1960.  The Act was

amended in 1998 to introduce two-yearly valuations from the 2000 general valuation onwards. A Council

valuer inspects all properties and takes into consideration the size, condition and locality of the property and

improvements. The valuer then analyses similar properties that have recently sold in the area and determines

a value for the property based on the state of the property market and current conditions. 

The farm rate may be applied to some properties within the Municipality which are classified by Council as

Farm Land as defined in Section 2(1) of the Valuation of Land Act 1960.  Farm Land is used primarily for

growing or grazing purposes and must be greater than 2 hectares in area.

Additional disclosures in the event that the separate waste charge is not introduced after public 

consultation

Type or class of land Change

The estimated total amount to be raised by general rates in relation to each type or class of land, and the

estimated total amount to be raised by general rates, compared with the previous financial year

Type or class of land
Change

The rate in the dollar to be levied as general rates under section 158 of the Act for each type or class of land 

compared with the previous financial year

Valuers are required to assess three bases of value:

 Capital Improved Value (CIV) - The value of both the land and any improvements on the property.  It is the

sum that the property would be likely to realise at the time of valuation if offered for sale 

 Site Value (SV) - Site Value is what the land is worth assuming that there are no improvements, it is the sum 

that the property would be likely to realise at the time of valuation if offered for sale. 

 Net Annual Value (NAV) - In the case of residential houses, units and rural properties the NAV is 5% of the

Capital Improved Value. For commercial and industrial properties the NAV is the rent at which the property

might reasonably be expected to be let from year to year.

A Council may choose one of these valuation bases for calculating general rates. At the City of Whittlesea, the

NAV is used for calculating municipal rates.
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4.1.2 Statutory fees and fines

Forecast 

Actual Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Certificates and regulatory service fees            5,356                5,724                  369 6.88%

Permit fees            5,697                5,909                  212 3.73%

Total statutory fees and fines          11,053              11,634                  581 5.25%

4.1.3 User fees

Forecast 

Actual Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Tip fees            1,979                1,969 (10) (0.5%)

Leisure centre fees            1,756                1,493 (263) (15.0%)

Fines            3,749                4,014 265 7.1%

Property leases and rentals            2,550                2,424 (126) (4.9%)

Registrations            1,575                1,655 81 5.1%

Other fees and charges               661                   664 3 0.5%

Total user fees          12,270              12,219 (50) (0.4%)

User charges relate to the recovery of service delivery costs through the charging of fees to users of services.

These include for property and Land Certification information, the green organics waste services, fees for the

use of leisure facilities, entertainment, equipment hire and other community facilities and the provision of

human services such as family day care and home help services.

Statutory fees and fines that relate mainly to fees and fines levied in accordance with legislation and include

parking infringements, animal registrations, Health Act registrations, building control permits, statutory

planning permits and subdivision supervision fees.

Change

Change
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4.1.4 Grants

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

 Grants were received in respect of the following: 

Summary of grants

Commonwealth funded grants            15,030                 21,057 6,027 40.1%

State funded grants            17,970                 16,133 (1,837) (10.2%)

Total grants received            33,000                 37,190 4,190 12.7%

(a)    Operating Grants

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 

Victoria Grants Commission - General purpose              6,827                 12,446 5,619 82.3%

Victoria Grants Commission - Road funding              1,056                   2,112 1,056 100.0%

Community Care                   90                        90 0 0.0%

Family Day Care                     2                          1 (1) (50.0%)

Vacation Care                   54                        54 0 0.0%

Home & Community Care              5,070                   5,090 20 0.4%

Senior Citizens                   17                        -   (17) (100.0%)

Immunisation                   30                        32 2 6.7%

Social Support                 235                      320 85 36.2%

Economic Development                   60                        -   (60) (100.0%)

Recurrent - State Government

Community Care                   55                        55 0 0.0%

Early Years                 247                      259 12 4.9%

Family Day Care                 533                      528 (5) (0.9%)

Community Development                   55                        -   (55) (100.0%)

 Health & Access                 188                      152 (36) (19.1%)

Immunisation                 399                      276 (123) (30.8%)

Home & Community Care              1,310                      858 (452) (34.5%)

Maternal & Child health              3,426                   2,963 (463) (13.5%)

Resilience & Emergency Management                   60                        60 0 0.0%

Senior Citizens                   23                          3 (20) (87.0%)

Social Support                 220                      136 (84) (38.2%)

Youth Services                 133                        96 (37) (27.8%)

Sustainability Planning                   14                        14 0 0.0%

Road Maintenance                 690                      700 10 1.4%

Local Laws                 624                      500 (124) (19.9%)

Other                   20                        19 (1) (5.0%)

Total recurrent grants            21,438                 26,764 5,326 24.8%

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government

Community Care                   15                        -   (15) (100.0%)

Non-recurrent - State Government

Early Years                     6                        -   (6) (100.0%)

Maternal & Child health                   98                        62 (36) (36.7%)

Youth Services                   19                        -   (19) (100.0%)

Infrastructure                 290                        91 (199) (68.6%)

Total non-recurrent grants                 428                      153 (275) (64.3%)

Total operating grants            21,866                 26,917 5,051 23.1%

A list of operating grants and capital grants by type and source, classified into recurrent and non-recurrent, is

included below.

Grants are required by the Act and the Regulations to be disclosed in Council’s annual budget.

Change
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Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

(b)    Capital Grants

Recurrent - Commonwealth Government 

Roads to recovery                 914                      914 0 0.0%

Recurrent - State Government

Roads & Paths                 660                        -   (660) (100.0%)

Total recurrent grants              1,574                      914 (660) (41.9%)

Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government

Non-recurrent - State Government

Building Maintenance & Construction                 810                   7,559 6,749 833.2%

Parks & Gardens              7,496                   1,100 (6,396) (85.3%)

Roads & Paths              1,255                      700 (555) (44.2%)

Total non-recurrent grants              9,561                   9,359 (202) (2.1%)

Total capital grants            11,135                 10,273 (862) (7.7%)

Total Grants            33,001                 37,190 4,189 12.7%

4.1.5 Contributions

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Monetary          11,676              12,378                  702 6.0%

Non-monetary          96,154              98,077               1,923 2.0%

Total contributions        107,830            110,455               2,625 2.4%

4.1.6 Other income

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Interest            4,027                4,056                    30 0.7%

Reimbursements            2,563                2,682                  119 4.6%

Sales            1,239                1,299                    60 4.9%

Other Income                 38                     42                      4 10.6%

Total other income            7,867                8,080                  213 2.7%

Change

Change

Change

Non Monetary Contributions are those assets that have been transferred to Council by developers.

Monetary Contributions are those contributions and reimbursements from organisations such as sporting

clubs for works carried out on their behalf, as well as contributions from developers towards specific capital

works projects.

Other income relates to items such as interest on investments and operational sales. 
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4.1.7 Employee costs

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Wages and salaries          75,608              79,095 3,487 4.6%

Casual Staff            1,091                   714 (376) (34.5%)

Superannuation            6,827                6,870 42 0.6%

Workcover            2,041                2,400 359 17.6%

Fringe benefits tax               394                   404 10 2.5%

Total employee costs          85,961              89,483 3,522 4.1%

4.1.8 Materials and services

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

External works (contractors)          39,478              39,797 319 0.8%

Support Services            6,929                5,321 (1,607) (23.2%)

Design Work                 25                     20 (5) (20.0%)

Facilities Management            3,175                2,103 (1,072) (33.8%)

Supplies & Services            9,084              11,142 2,058 22.7%

Plant and Fleet Operations            1,774                1,766 (9) (0.5%)

Computer Services            2,128                2,091 (37) (1.8%)

Communications               989                1,073 83 8.4%

Catering Supplies               336                   346 10 2.8%

Construction Materials               844                   894 50 6.0%

Travel & Accommodation               270                   219 (51) (18.7%)

Total materials and services          65,032              64,772 (260) (0.4%)

Change

Materials & Services include the purchase of supplies and consumables, payments for the provision of

services, and fleet costs.

Change

 Increase in staff numbers due largely to growth within the municipality resulting in expansion of programs,

services and administration

      Includes positions which have been funded from specific grants

      Salary movements through banding adjustments and the Enterprise Agreement

Employee costs are estimated to increase due to the following factors:

Employee costs include all labour related expenditure such as salaries, wages, allowances and on-costs such

as leave entitlements, superannuation and WorkCover.
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4.1.9 Depreciation and amortisation

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Infrastructure Assets          17,791              18,161 370 2.1%

Buildings            4,992                5,096 104 2.1%

Plant & Equipment            1,507                1,539 32 2.1%

Furniture & Equipment               493                   503 10 2.0%

Intangible Assets                 56                     57 1 1.8%

Total depreciation and amortisation          24,839              25,355 516 2.1%

4.1.10 Other expenses

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000 %

Contributions & Donations            6,429                6,438 9 0.1%

Utilities            5,288                5,158 (129) (2.4%)

Councillor and Mayoral expenses               428                   437 9 2.0%

Financial costs            2,105                2,045 (60) (2.9%)

Other Costs               596                   771 174 29.3%

Total other expenses          14,846              14,849 3 0.0%

Change

Change

Depreciation relates to the usage of Council's property, plant and equipment including infrastructure assets

such as roads and drains expressed in financial terms.

Other expenses relate to a range of unclassified items including utilities and contributions to community 

groups. 

43



4.2 Balance Sheet

4.2.1 Assets

Current assets and non-current assets

4.2.2 Liabilities

Current liabilities and non-current liabilities

4.2.3 Borrowings

2017/18 2018/19

$ $

Amount borrowed as at 30 June of the prior year              28,096             16,132 

Amount proposed to be borrowed - new                      -               12,050 

                     -               12,300 

Amount projected to be redeemed (11,964) (2,798) 

Amount of borrowings as at 30 June              16,132             37,684 

Total new borrowings                      -               24,350 

The decrease in current assets is mainly due to the decrease in cash and cash equivalents (See Budget

Standard Cash Flow Statement) and financial assets. This is due in part to increase spending Capital works

program.

Inventory levels are expected to increase marginally

The table below shows information on borrowings specifically required by the Regulations. 

This section of the Annual Budget report analyses the movements in assets, liabilities and equity between

2017/18 and 2018/19.

Amount proposed to be borrowed - carried forward

The increase in non-current assets is the net result of the capital works program and transfer to Council of non-

monetary assets ($98.07 million), offset by the depreciation of non-current assets ($25.35 Million).

Trade and other payables (being the amounts that Council owes to suppliers) are expected to decrease

slightly in line with materials and services (See Budgeted Comprehensive Income Statement).

Annual and long service leave staff entitlements (provisions) are expected to increase in line with an

increasing labour cost base.

Non-current liabilities (that is, obligations Council must pay beyond the next financial year) will increase due to

new loan borrowing for capital projects in 2018/19.
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4.3 Statement of changes in Equity

4.3.1 Reserves

2018/19
Asset Revaluation Reserve 679,882       -                  -                  679,882   

Asset replacement reserve

Plant replacement 7,155 2,205               9,360       

Tip replacement 8,952 1,030               (27) 9,955       

Computer equipment replacement 41 41            

Land Sales 574 574          

Non Standard Street lighting contributions 2,953 97                    (107) 2,943       

Synthetic Turf replacement 1,670 210                  1,880       

Environmental project reserve 3,793 1,330               (30) 5,093       

Traffic Lights Constructions 367.29 80                    447          

Lutheran Church 380 380          

Unspent budgeted capitals works 4,512 4,512       

Technology improvement fund 4,399 2                      (1,075) 3,325       

LASF defined benefit plan liability 2,576 360                  2,936       

Carried forward projects 16,827 -                  (34,633) (17,806)

Other 2,622 580                  3,203       

56,823         5,892               (35,873) 26,843     

Asset development reserve

Parklands contribution 1,643           747                  2,390       

Community facilities 56,736         10,143             66,879     

Car parking 28                28            

Planning Permit Drainage Levy 2,439           315                  2,754       

Net Gain Compensation 3,122           162                  (33) 3,251       

Plenty Road Duplication 1,233           1,233       

People plan reserve 500              (122) 378          

Other 1,592           31                    (284) 1,339       

67,294         11,397             (439) 78,252     

803,999       17,289             (36,311) 784,977   

Discretionary reserves

Statutory reserves

These funds must be applied for specified statutory purposes in accordance with various legislative and

contractual requirements. Whilst these funds earn interest revenue for Council, they are not available for other

purposes.

There are no restrictions on the use of these funds other than as Council may itself impose. In this case

Council has made decisions regarding the future use of these funds and, unless there is a Council resolution

to change those decisions, these funds should be used for those earmarked purposes. These decisions about

future use of these funds will be made in the context of the long term funding requirements as set out in the

plan.

Balance at 

beginning of 

reporting 

period

Transfers to 

Reserve

Transfers from 

Reserve

Balance at 

end of 

reporting 

period
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4.3.2 Equity

4.4 Statement of Cash Flows

4.4.1 Net cash flows provided by/used in operating activities

4.4.2 Net cash flows provided by/used in investing activities

4.4.3 Net cash flows provided by/used in financing activities

Cash at end of the year

· Financing activities - Refers to the cash generated or used in financing of Council functions and include

borrowing from financial institutions and advancing of repayable loans to other organisations. These activities

also include repayment of the principal component of loan repayment of the year.

The increase in payments for investing activities represents the increase in capital works expenditure over the

2017/18.

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets (fleet trade-ins and sales) will increase over the 2017/18

forecast.

Redemption/(payments) for investments (maturing later than 90 days) relate to financial assets which are cash

investments (predominantly term deposits) that have maturity date greater than 90 days. To Council's cash

flow (and maximise interest revenue), investments are either redeemed or placed throughout the year

dependent on the receipt of revenue and the timing of expenditure.

The net increase in equity (or net assets) will be $132.27 million and in the main reflects the increase in

Council's infrastructure, Property Plant and Equipment. This increase is substantially due to the Income

Statement item non-monetary assets - i.e. those assets built and/or constructed by developers that are then

divested to Council.

The total of loan principal repayments for 2018/19 is $2.79 million and the total loan interest is $1.84 million.

Total loan borrowing to fund capital works is $24.35 million which includes $12.3M will fund works carried

forward from 2017/18.

The increase in cash flow from operating activities is due to a $4.60 million increase in grants, a $1.59 million

increase in rates and charges, a $0.65 million decrease in payments to suppliers, offset by a $2.89 million

increase in payment to employees.

The net cash flows from the operating activities does not equal the operating result of the year as the

expected revenues and expenses of the Council include non-cash items which have been excluded from the

Cash flow Statement.

Total cash and cash equivalents are forecast to increase by $2.54 million to $46.41 million at 30 June 2019. In

addition, financial assets are forecast to increase by $5.93 million to $108.33 million, bringing total cash and

investments to $154.76 million in 2018/19.

· Investing activities - Refers to the cash generated or used in the enhancement or creation of infrastructure

and other assets. These activities also include the acquisition and sale of other assets such as vehicles,

property and equipment.

This analysis is based on three main categories of cash flows:

· Operating activities - Refers to the cash generated or used in the normal service delivery functions of

Council. Cash remaining after paying for the provisions of services to the community may be available for

investment in capital works, or repayment debt.

This section analyses the expected cash flows from the operating, investing and financing activities of Council

for the 2017/18 year. Budgeting cash flows for Council is a key factor in setting the level of rates and providing

a guide to the level of capital expenditure that can be sustained with or without using existing cash reserves.
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4.5 Capital works program

4.5.1 Summary

Forecast 

Actual
Budget

2017/18 2018/19

$’000 $’000 $’000

Property      11,330    16,674        5,344 47.16%

Plant and equipment        2,952      3,402           450 15.24%

Infrastructure      36,319    68,334      32,015 88.15%

Total      50,601    88,410      37,809 74.72%

Property

Plant and Equipment

Infrastructure 

For the 2018/19 year, $3.80 million will be spent on pathways and cycleways. Including the construction of

shared path plenty road connecting McKimmies Drive to Weathiland Drive ($0.7 million), Missing Footpath

Links Program at various locations ($0.71 million), construction of shared path Bridge Inn Road connecting

Towerhill Ave to Mernda Station. Other infrastructure expenditure includes Signalise intersection at Ferres

Boulevard and Findon Road ($3.0 million) and sustainable street lighting ($0.4 million).

For the 2018/19 year, $4.96 million will be expended on parks and open spaces projects, including 

Streetscape improvements program at Lalor High Street Shops as part of the Thomastown and Lalor 

Masterplan ($1.0 million), commencement of the All abilities playspace ($1.0 million) and renewal of 

playgrounds and general landscape improvements at Various locations ($1.1 million).

This section presents a listing of the capital works projects that will be undertaken for the 2018/19 year,

classified by expenditure type and funding source. Works are also disclosed as current budget or carried

forward from prior year.

2018/19 Capital works expenditure budget are to increase by 74.72% or $37.8 million compared to the

2017/18 forecast.

The Property asset class comprises buildings and building improvements including community facilities

and municipal offices.

For the 2018/19 year, $16.67 million will be expended on building and building improvement projects. The

more significant project include the commencement of the construction of the Community Activity Centre

Edgars Creek ($7.0 million), Redevelop Pavilion ($2.40 million), commencement of the Sustainable climate

control project at Civic Precinct ($3.37 million), upgrade pavilion at Duffy street reserve ($1.0 million) and

refurburbishment of the Mill Park Library ($0.94 million).

For the 2018/19 year, $3.40 million will be expended on plant, equipment and other projects. The more

significant projects include ongoing cyclical replacement of the plant and vehicle fleet ($0.79 million),

upgrade and replacement of information technology ($2.0 million), and furniture and fittings purchases

($0.09 million).

Plant and equipment includes plant, machinery and equipment, computers and telecommunications.

%
Change
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Funding sources

Grants and contributions

Proceeds from sale of assets

Loan 

Reserve cash and investments

Operations

For the 2018/19 year, $36.41 million will be expended on sporting, recreation and leisure facilities, including 

commencement of the redevelopment of the Mill Park Leisure and Service Centre ($12.0 million), 

commencement of construction of two soccer and pavilion and community facility at Doreen South Reserve 

($2.57 million), commencement of the construction of the two soccer pitches and pavilion at Lalor West 

Reserve ($3.55 million) and upgrade tennis courts and pavilion at TH Hurrey Reserve ($1.71 million).

New assets, assets renewal and expansion/upgrade

A distinction is made between expenditure on new assets, expenditure on asset renewal and

expansion/upgrade. Expenditure on asset renewal is expenditure on an existing asset which improves the

service potential or the life of the asset. Expenditure on new assets does not have any element of

expansion/upgrade of existing assets but will result in an additional burden for future operation,

maintenance and capital renewal.

The major projects included in the above categories which constitute expenditure on new assets are: the

construction of two soccer pitches and pavilion at Lalor West Reserve ($3.55 million), construction of two

soccer pitches and a pavilion and community facility at Doreen South Reserve ($2.57 million) and the

pavilion and car park at Harvest Home Road soccer facility ($3 million).

Expenditure on asset renewal includes road surfacing, rehabilitation and resheeting ($4.5 million), renewal

of various playgrounds ($1.1 million).

During the year Council generates cash from it's operating activities which is used as a funding sources for 

the capital works program. 

Capital grants and contributions include monies received from State and Commonwealth Governments and

community sources for the purpose of funding the Capital Works Program, but does not include funds

received from developers.

Grants and contributions are budgeted to be received to fund the redevelopment of the Mill Park Leisure

and Service Centre ($5.0 million), commencement of the All Abilities Playspace ($1.0 million) and

redevelopment of the pavilion at Main Street Reserve ($2.0 million).

Proceeds from sale of assets include motor vehicle sales and trade-ins in accordance with Council's fleet

renewal program.

In 2018/19 , $6.26 million will be used from reserves to fund carried forward Capital Works projects. 

Loan borrowing will be used to fund the mill park leisure and Service centre redevelopment and the civic 

precinct HVAC and refurbishment (sustainable Climate Control Project).
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Capital works summary

Current Budget

New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Property     16,345       7,670          500          8,175             -         2,559       7,090       3,326          3,370 

Plant and equipment       3,142       2,680             -               462             -               -               -         3,142                -   

Infrastructure     58,417     34,794       9,279        12,965       1,380       7,714     10,005     32,018          8,680 

Total     77,904     45,144       9,779        21,602       1,380     10,273     17,095     38,486        12,050 

Works carried forward from the 2017/18 year

New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Property          329            50            10             269             -               -               -            329          9,300 

Plant and equipment          260          120             -               140             -               -               -            260                -   

Infrastructure       9,917       6,307       1,258          2,352             -         2,515          125       5,416          3,000 

Total     10,506       6,477       1,268          2,761             -         2,515          125       6,005        12,300 *

* Declared 2017/18 borrowings deferred to 2018/19

Total Capital Works

New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Property     16,674       7,720          510          8,444             -         2,559       7,090       3,654        12,670 

Plant and equipment       3,402       2,800             -               602             -               -               -         3,402                -   

Infrastructure     68,334     41,100     10,537        15,316       1,380     10,229     10,130     37,434        11,680 

Total     88,410     51,621     11,047        24,362       1,380     12,789     17,220     44,490        24,350 

Project 

Cost

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources

Project 

Cost

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources

Project 

Cost

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
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4.5.2 Current Budget

Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

PROPERTY
Land

Acquire land - Grange Drive construction - 

Williamsons Road to future Findon Road 

extension

         280          280             -                  -               -               -               -            280                -   

Buildings

Construct food services facility - Mernda 

Villages Community Activity Centre (PAG)
           90            90             -                  -               -               -              90             -                  -   

Construct Community Activity Centre - Edgars 

Creek
      7,000       7,000             -                  -               -               -         7,000             -                  -   

Redevelop pavilion - Main Street Reserve       2,400             -               -            2,400             -         2,000             -            400                -   

Building renewal          100             -               -               100             -               -               -            100                -   

Planned renewal - Minor works          500             -            500                -               -               -               -            500                -   

Portable change rooms - A.F. Walker Reserve, 

Whittlesea
         200          200             -                  -               -               -               -            200                -   

Building Improvements                -   

Office Refurbishment and Alterations - Various 

Locations
         290             -               -               290             -               -               -            290                -   

Upgrade pavilion - Duffy Street Reserve          800             -               -               800             -               -               -            800                -   

Civic Precinct - HVAC and Refurbishment 

(Sustainable Climate Control Project Stage 1) - 

Civic Centre

      3,370             -               -            3,370             -               -               -               -            3,370 

Energy Efficiency Program - Various locations          275             -               -               275             -               -               -            275                -   

Mill Park Library refurbishment          940             -               -               940             -            559             -            381                -   

Construct additional kindergarten room - 

School site in Thomastown (TBC)
         100          100             -                  -               -               -               -            100                -   

TOTAL PROPERTY     16,345       7,670          500          8,175             -         2,559       7,090       3,326          3,370 

Project 

Cost

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
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Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Project 

Cost

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant, Machinery and Equipment

Replacement of Council fleet - Ongoing 

Program - Plant
         796          796             -                  -               -               -               -            796                -   

Furniture and equipment purchases - Various 

locations
           70            70             -                  -               -               -               -              70                -   

Mosaic Reserve - Pump Shed Accoustic 

Treatment
         120             -               -               120             -               -               -            120                -   

Fixtures, Fittings and Furniture

Acquisition of Visual Art - Civic Centre - Civic 

Centre
           10            10             -                  -               -               -               -              10                -   

Furniture and fittings for halls and CACs - 

Various Locations - Various locations
           80            80             -                  -               -               -               -              80                -   

Computers and Telecommunications

IT - Various computer system hardware and 

other IT equipment - Various locations
         111            44             -                 67             -               -               -            111                -   

IT - ICT Infrastructure Asset Program          240          144             -                 96             -               -               -            240                -   

IT - Mobility - Various locations            90            36             -                 54             -               -               -              90                -   

IT - A0 Plotters / Scanners and IM Scanner            25             -               -                 25             -               -               -              25                -   

IT - Telephone System BCP and Renewal          100             -               -               100             -               -               -            100                -   

IT - PC Replacement       1,500       1,500             -                  -               -               -               -         1,500                -   

TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT       3,142       2,680             -               462             -               -               -         3,142                -   
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Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Project 

Cost

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources

INFRASTRUCTURE
Roads

Local road resurfacing works - Ongoing 

Program - Various Roads
      2,000             -         2,000                -               -            914             -         1,086                -   

Local road reconstruction/rehabilitation - 

Various Roads
      2,500             -         2,500                -               -               -               -         2,500                -   

LATM Schemes various treatments - Various 

locations
         450          315             -               135             -               -               -            450                -   

Car Park rehabilitation - various - Various 

locations
           65             -              65                -               -               -               -              65                -   

Traffic control devices - un-programmed works 

- Various locations
         240          120             -               120             -               -               -            240                -   

Collector Road traffic management - Various 

locations - Collector Roads
         150            75             -                 45            30             -               -            150                -   

Construct Findon Road extension - 

Williamsons Road to Danaher Drive
      3,200       3,200             -                  -               -               -               -         3,200                -   

Upgrade disabled parking bays to DDA 

requirements - Various locations - DDA Works - 

Various locations

           50             -               -                 50             -               -               -              50                -   

Roadside hazard protection - Various locations            75            75             -                  -               -               -               -              75                -   

Construct road - Edgars Road - O'Herns Road 

to Harvest Home Road
      6,744       6,744             -                  -               -               -         6,744             -                  -   

Signalise intersection - Bridge Inn 

Road/Sissinghurst Parade
         342          342             -                  -               -               -            342             -                  -   

Streetscape improvements program - 

Thomastown High Street Shops (Thomastown 

and Lalor Masterplan)

         150             -               -               150             -               -               -            150                -   

Reconstruct car park - Mill Park Leisure and 

Service Centre
         968             -               -               968             -               -               -               -               968 

Riverside CAC - Indented parking bay in 

Doreen Rogan Way
         100          100             -                  -               -               -               -            100                -   

Safety lighting along path – Gorge Road South 

Morang
         100          100             -                  -               -               -               -            100                -   

Traffic Management around Schools          585          585             -                  -               -               -               -            585                -   
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Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Project 

Cost

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources

Bridges

Boardwalk/ bridges refurbishment - Various          200             -            200                -               -               -               -            200                -   

Footpaths and Cycleways

Construct shared path - Bruce's Creek reserve 

- Kinglake Views to Yea Road
           30             -               -                  -              30             -               -              30                -   

Bicycle facilities - provide new on-road & off-

road paths - Various locations
         100            80             -                 20             -               -               -            100                -   

Kerb Ramp DDA Upgrades - Various locations            40             -               -                 40             -               -               -              40                -   

Construct bridge and shared path - Plenty 

Road - Wealthiland Drive to existing (South of 

Axis Centre) - Plenty Road

           25            13             -                 13             -               -               -              25                -   

Safe Routes to Schools - Various locations - 

Various
         385          385             -                  -               -               -               -            385                -   

Upgrade shared path - Darebin Creek - 

Metropolitan Ring Road to Findon Road - 

Epping

           50            50             -                  -               -               -               -              50                -   

Construct shared path - McDonalds Road 

(north side) - Darebin Creek to Civic Drive
         700          700             -                  -               -            700             -               -                  -   

Construct shared path - Plenty Road (west 

side) - McKimmies Drive to Weathiland Drive
           85            85             -                  -               -               -               -              85                -   

Construct shared path - Hendersons Road 

Drain - Childs Road to Findon Road
           20            20             -                  -               -               -               -              20                -   

Construct shared paths - South Morang - 

Findon Road to Hawkstowe Parade (various 

alignments) - Yan Yean Reserve

         710             -               -                  -            710             -               -            710                -   

Missing Footpath Links Program - Various 

locations
         563          563             -                  -               -               -               -            563                -   
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Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Project 

Cost

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources

Construct shared path - Bridge Inn Road - 

Towerhill Ave to Mernda Station
           32            32             -                  -               -               -               -              32                -   

Construct Shared Path - Davisson Street - 

McDonalds Road to Cooper Street
           20             -               -                 20             -               -               -              20                -   

Bridge Upgrade - Plenty River Bridge - Cades 

Road
         450          450             -                  -               -               -               -            450                -   

Drainage

Upgrade road east side - Betula Avenue 

(Between Belmont Ave and McKimmies Road) - 

Betula Avenue, Mill Park

           37             -               -                 37             -               -              37             -                  -   

Drainage improvement works - Various 

locations - Various locations
           60            60             -                  -               -               -               -              60                -   

Hillcroft Estate Drainage Issues          150             -            150                -               -               -               -            150                -   

Recreational, Leisure & Community 

Facilities

Upgrade open space - Implement Sportsfield 

Strategy - Various
      2,000             -               -            2,000             -               -               -         2,000                -   

Reconstruct courts - Dr Harry Jenkins 

Reserve, Mill Park
         240          240             -                  -               -               -               -            240                -   

Construct two soccer pitches and pavilion - 

Koukoura Drive
           50            50             -                  -               -               -               -              50                -   

Construct two soccer pitches and pavilion - 

Lalor West Reserve
      3,550       3,550             -                  -               -               -         1,974       1,576                -   

Construct two soccer pitches and 

pavilion/community facility - Doreen South 

Reserve (cnr of Eminence Boulevard and 

Painted Hills Road)

      2,575       2,575             -                  -               -               -            283       2,292                -   

Upgrade tennis courts and pavilion - TH Hurrey 

Reserve
      2,090             -         2,090                -               -               -               -         2,090                -   

Construct pavilion and car park - Harvest 

Home Road soccer pitches
      3,000       3,000             -                  -               -               -               -         3,000                -   

54



Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Project 

Cost

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources

Mernda Recreation and Leisure Centre 

Construction - Mernda Regional Recreation 

Hub

         713          713             -                  -               -               -               -               -               713 

Upgrade Coaches Boxes - Various Locations - 

Various locations
           55            55             -                  -               -               -               -              55                -   

Cricket Practice Net Upgrade (various 

locations) - Various locations
         210             -               -                  -            210          100             -            110                -   

Redevelop Mill Park Leisure and Service 

Centre
    12,000       6,000             -            6,000             -         5,000             -               -            7,000 

Course improvement works -Growling Frog 

Golf Course
           20             -               -                 20             -               -               -              20                -   

Establishment of additional dog off leash areas 

- Various Locations
           60            60             -                  -               -               -               -              60                -   

Cricket Centre Wickets Upgrade - Various 

locations
           70             -              70                -               -               -               -              70                -   

Refurbish building - Whittlesea Aquatic Facility          500             -            500                -               -               -               -            500                -   

Vehicle Exclusion Fencing - Various locations          100            75            25                -               -               -               -            100                -   

Sports Lighting Upgrades - Various Sites          220             -               -               220             -               -               -            220                -   

Master Plan Development and Implementation - 

Norris Bank Reserve
         800             -               -               800             -               -               -            800                -   

Sportsfield Irrigation upgrade program          120             -               -               120             -               -               -            120                -   

Parks, Open Space and Streetscapes

Renewal of playgrounds and general 

landscape improvements - Various locations
      1,100             -            880             220             -               -               -         1,100                -   

Street tree renewal - Ongoing Program - 

Various locations
         450            68          383                -               -               -               -            450                -   

Develop and implement masterplan - 

Whittlesea Gardens
         400             -               -                  -            400             -               -            400                -   

Skate Parks - Growth Areas - Various 

locations
           40            40             -                  -               -               -               -              40                -   

Retail Activity Centres - Streetscape Condition 

Audit & Improvements - Various Locations
         250             -               -               250             -               -            125          125                -   
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$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000
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Streetscape improvements program - Lalor 

High Street Shops (Thomastown and Lalor 

Masterplan)

      1,000             -               -            1,000             -               -            500          500                -   

All abilities playspace       1,000       1,000             -                  -               -         1,000             -               -                  -   

Botanica Park master plan implementation            60            12             -                 48            60 

Other Infrastructure

Disability Action Plan - Ongoing Program - 

Various locations
         120             -               -               120             -               -               -            120                -   

Management of the Public Art Collection - 

Various locations
           59            59             -                  -               -               -               -              59                -   

Improve disability access (DDA) to public 

transport - Various locations - DDA Works
           70             -               -                 70             -               -               -              70                -   

Installation bus shelters - Various locations            20              4            16                -               -               -               -              20                -   

Planning and Feasibility Studies for Future 

Projects - Various locations
         500             -               -               500             -               -               -            500                -   

Implementation of Signage Management Plan - 

Various locations
         200          200             -                  -               -               -               -            200                -   

Signalise intersection - Ferres 

Boulevard/Findon Road
      3,000       3,000             -                  -               -               -               -         3,000                -   

Street Light bulk replacement program - 

Various locations
         400             -            400                -               -               -               -            400                -   

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE     58,417     34,794       9,279        12,965       1,380       7,714     10,005     32,018          8,680 

TOTAL CAPITAL WORKS     77,904     45,144       9,779        21,602       1,380     10,273     17,095     38,486        12,050 
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4.5.3 Works carried forward from the 2017/18 year

Capital Works Area New Renewal Upgrade Expansion Grants Contrib.
Council 

cash
Borrowings

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

PROPERTY
Buildings

Construct tennis pavilion - adjacent to P-12 

school near Steen Avenue
           50            50             -                  -               -               -               -              50                -   

Redevelop pavilion - Main Street Reserve            50             -               -                 50             -               -               -              50                -   

Building Improvements

Upgrade pavilion - Duffy Street Reserve          200             -               -               200             -               -               -            200                -   

Epping Services Hub - Upgrade of 713 High 

Street Epping
           19             -               -                 19             -               -               -              19                -   

Electrical works - Meadowglen Athletics 

Reserve
           10             -              10                -               -               -               -              10                -   

Civic Precinct - HVAC and Refurbishment 

(Sustainable Climate Control Project Stage 1) - 

Civic Centre

            -               -               -                  -               -               -               -               -            9,300 

TOTAL PROPERTY          329            50            10             269             -               -               -            329          9,300 

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Computers and Telecommunications

IT - Telephone System BCP and Renewal          100             -               -               100             -               -               -            100                -   

IT - MCH Statewide Application            40             -               -                 40             -               -               -              40                -   

Replacement of Infringement Issuing Devices 

and Provision of an Integrated Infringement 

Management Software System

         120          120             -                  -               -               -               -            120                -   

TOTAL PLANT AND EQUIPMENT          260          120             -               140             -               -               -            260                -   

Project 

Cost

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources
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Council 
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$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Project 

Cost

Asset expenditure types Summary of Funding Sources

INFRASTRUCTURE
Roads

Streetscape improvements program - 

Thomastown High Street Shops (Thomastown 

and Lalor Masterplan)

         121             -               -               121             -               -               -            121                -   

Footpaths and Cycleways

Construct bridge and shared path - Plenty 

Road - Wealthiland Drive to existing (South of 

Axis Centre)

         390          390             -                  -               -               -               -            390                -   

Public realm improvements - Bundoora 

Shopping Centre
         150             -              75               75             -               -            125            25                -   

Construct shared path - McDonalds Road 

(north side) - Darebin Creek to Civic Drive
           50            50             -                  -               -               -               -              50                -   

Recreational, Leisure & Community 

Facilities

Construct two soccer pitches and pavilion - 

Lalor West Reserve
         700          700             -                  -               -            700             -               -                  -   

Construct two soccer pitches and 

pavilion/community facility - Doreen South 

Reserve (cnr of Eminence Boulevard and 

Painted Hills Road)

      1,149       1,149             -                  -               -         1,149             -               -                  -   

Upgrade tennis courts and pavilion - TH Hurrey 

Reserve
         800             -            800                -               -               -               -            800                -   

Construct pavilion and car park - Harvest 

Home Road soccer pitches
      1,869       1,869             -                  -               -               -               -         1,869                -   

Mernda Recreation and Leisure Centre 

Construction - Mernda Regional Recreation 

Hub

         159          159             -                  -               -               -               -            159                -   

Redevelop Mill Park Leisure and Service 

Centre
      1,860          930             -               930             -               -               -               -            3,000 

Upgrade tennis courts and pavilion - Lalor 

Tennis Club
           50             -               -                 50             -               -               -              50                -   

Refurbish building - Whittlesea Aquatic Facility          343             -            343                -               -               -               -            343                -   

Sycamore BMX Track Development          235             -               -               235             -               -               -            235                -   
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$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $'000 $'000

Project 

Cost
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Sycamore BMX Pavilion development          524          210             -               315             -               -               -            524                -   

Sycamore BMX Track and Car Park Lighting          350          350             -                  -               -               -               -            350                -   

Parks, Open Space and Streetscapes

Renewal of playgrounds and general 

landscape improvements - Various locations
           50             -              40               10             -              50             -               -                  -   

Streetscape improvements program - Lalor 

High Street Shops (Thomastown and Lalor 

Masterplan)

         617             -               -               617             -            617             -               -                  -   

Other Infrastructure

Signalise intersection - Ferres 

Boulevard/Findon Road
         500          500             -                  -               -               -               -            500                -   

TOTAL INFRASTRUCTURE       9,917       6,307       1,258          2,352             -         2,515          125       5,416          3,000 

TOTAL CARRIED FORWARD CAPITAL 

WORKS 2017/18
    10,506       6,477       1,268          2,761             -         2,515          125       6,005        12,300 
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5. Financial performance indicators

Actual Forecast Budget Trend

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 +/o/-

Adjusted underlying result
Adjusted underlying surplus (deficit) / 

Adjusted underlying revenue
1 13.72% 2.41% 6.95% 9.80% 10.02% 10.97% +

Liquidity

Working Capital Current assets / current liabilities 2 378.51% 363.84% 349.14% 309.53% 317.92% 247.99% o

Unrestricted cash Unrestricted cash / current liabilities 125.02% 290.04% 294.43% 253.77% 264.07% 196.36% o

Obligations

Loans and borrowings
Interest bearing loans and borrowings / rate 

revenue
3 20.54% 11.29% 25.12% 28.24% 33.79% 50.66% +

Loans and borrowings
Interest and principal repayments on interest 

bearing loans and borrowings / rate revenue
3.17% 9.85% 3.09% 5.50% 4.42% 4.93% +

Indebtedness Non-current liabilities / own source revenue 16.15% 10.13% 20.72% 26.11% 31.46% 45.98% +

Asset renewal Asset renewal expenses / Asset depreciation 4 25.17% 34.72% 43.41% 36.70% 58.51% 63.05% -

Stability

Rates concentration Rate revenue / adjusted underlying revenue 5 63.97% 72.17% 70.96% 71.87% 72.57% 73.23% -

Rates effort
Rate revenue / CIV of rateable properties in 

the municipality
0.34% 0.34% 0.27% 0.27% 0.27% 0.27% o

N
o

te
s

The following table highlights Council’s current and projected performance across a range of key financial performance indicators. These indicators

provide a useful analysis of Council’s financial position and performance and should be interpreted in the context of the organisation’s objectives.

Strategic Resource Plan 

Projections

Operating position

 Indicator Measure
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Actual Forecast Budget Trend

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 +/o/-

Efficiency

Expenditure level Total expenses/ no. of property assessments $2,300 $2,300 $2,342 $2,241 $2,219 $2,206 +

Revenue level
Residential rate revenue / no. of residential 

property assessments
$1,449 $1,471 $1,573 $1,606 $1,641 $1,694 +

Key to Forecast Trend:

Notes to indicators 

4.      Asset renewal

Workforce turnover

No. of permanent staff resignations & 

terminations / average no. of permanent staff 

for the financial year

 Indicator Measure

N
o

te
s Strategic Resource Plan 

Projections

 - Forecasts deterioration in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator

1.      Adjusted underlying result

2.      Working Capital

 The adjusted underlying operating result excludes the impact of non-recurrent capital grants, non-monetary asset contributions and contributions 

from developers to fund capital expenditure.  It is an indicator of the sustainable operating result required to enable Council to continue to provide 

core services and meet its objectives. 

8.20% +

+ Forecasts improvement in Council's financial performance/financial position indicator

o Forecasts that Council's financial performance/financial position indicator will be steady

8.30% 8.30% 8.30% 8.30% 8.20%

The proportion of current liabilities represented by current assets. Working capital is forecast to decrease over the following years due to increased

borrowings which will fund some large capital projects.  

This percentage indicates the extent of Council’s renewal against its depreciation charge (an indication of the decline in value of its existing capital 

assets).  A percentage greater than 100 indicates Council is maintaining its existing assets, while a percentage less than 100 means its assets are 

deteriorating faster than they are being renewed and future capital expenditure will be required to renew assets.

Reflects the extent of reliance on rate revenues to fund all of Council’s on-going services.  Trend indicates Council will become increasingly reliant 

on rate revenue compared to all other revenue sources despite efforts to identify other income streams.

Trend indicates Council’s increasing use of debt to fund significant capital projects

5.      Rates concentration

3.      Debt compared to rates
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